Opioid analgesia: modulation by drug interactions and glial activation

Viljami Jokinen

Doctoral programme in Drug research Department of Pharmacology, Faculty of Medicine University of Helsinki Finland

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be publicly discussed with permission of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Helsinki, in Biomedicum Helsinki 1, Lecture Hall 3, on December 8th, at 12 noon.

Helsinki 2017

Supervisors

Professor Eija Kalso, M.D., Ph.D.

Pain Clinic, Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine Helsinki University Central Hospital Department of Pharmacology Faculty of Medicine University of Helsinki Finland

Docent Pekka Rauhala, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Pharmacology Faculty of Medicine University of Helsinki Finland

Reviewers

<u>Professor Matti Närhi</u>, D.D.S., Ph.D. Faculty of Health Sciences

University of Eastern Finland Finland

Docent Petteri Piepponen, M.Sc. (Pharm.), Ph.D.

Division of Pharmacology and Pharmacotherapy Faculty of Pharmacy University of Helsinki Finland

Opponent

Docent Reino Pöyhiä, M.D., Ph.D. Medical Director Kauniala Hospital Adjunct Professor of Anesthesiology University of Helsinki Adjunct Professor of Palliative Medicine University of Turku Finland

© Viljami Jokinen 2017 ISBN: 978-951-51-3709-8 Painosalama Oy, Turku Finland 2017 Cover Image: 123RF license /elec /captiva55

"Do your work. Don't be stupid." - Anonymous

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of abbreviations	8
Abstract	11
List of original publications	13
1. Introduction	14
2. Review of the literature	16
2.1 Definition of pain	16
2.2 Physiology of nociception and pain	16
2.2.1 Nociceptors and nocireceptors	17
2.2.2 Role of spinal cord and medulla oblongata in nociception	20
2.2.3 Nociception and pain in the brain	23
2.3 Endogenous opioid system	25
2.3.1 Opioid receptors and their endogenous agonists	25
2.4 Exogenous opioids	27
2.4.1 Clinical use	27
2.4.2 Opioid-induced analgesia	
2.4.3 Adverse effects	32
2.4.4 Morphine	33
2.4.5 Oxycodone	34
2.4.6 Loperamide	
2.4.7 The molecular structure of morphine, oxycodone, and loperamide	
2.4.8 Opioid tolerance and opioid-induced hyperalgesia	37
2.4.9 Role of glia in pain and opioid analgesia	41

2.5 Diuretics used in the present study	45
2.5.1 Spironolactone	45
2.5.2 Eplerenone	46
2.5.3 Furosemide	47
2.5.4 Chlorothiazide	48
2.5.5 The molecular structure of the diuretics used in the present study	48
2.6 Anticonvulsant used in the present study	49
2.6.1 Pregabalin	49
2.6.2. Molecular structure of pregabalin	52
3. Aims of the study	53
4. Materials and methods	54
4.1 Materials	54
4.1.1 Animals	54
4.1.2 Drugs	54
4.2 Methods	55
4.2.1 Model of postoperative pain	55
4.2.2 Measurement of acute nociception	55
4.2.3 Assessment of motor functions	57
4.2.4 Determination of drug concentration	57
4.2.5 Immunohistochemical staining	58
4.2.6. Flow cytometry	59
4.2.7 Microglia RNA isolation (CD11b-positive cells)	60
4.2.8 RNA sequencing	61
4.2.9 Experimental design	62
4.3 Statistical analyses	63
5. RESULTS	65
Studies I and II	65

5.1 Individual antinociceptive effect of spironolactone, eplerenone, furosemide,
and chlorothiazide65
5.2 Antinociceptive effect of spironolactone, eplerenone, furosemide, and
chlorothiazide in co-administration with oxycodone and morphine
5.3 Spironolactone increases the morphine brain concentration and inhibits the
elimination of morphine66
5.4 Spironolactone increases oxycodone brain concentrations and inhibits
elimination of oxycodone68
5.5 Loperamide shows antinociceptive effect when co-administered with
spironolactone70
5.6 Spironolactone does not prevent the development of morphine tolerance70
5.7 Spironolactone and eplerenone do not have acute antinociceptive effects in a
model of incision pain70
Study III71
5.8 Pregabalin differentially potentiates the antinociceptive effect of oxycodone
and morphine71
5.9 Pregabalin does not have an effect on brain concentrations of oxycodone or
morphine or vice versa73
5.10 Pregabalin does not prevent morphine tolerance74
Study IV74
5.11 Chronic morphine treatment induces tolerance and hyperalgesia74
5.12 Chronic morphine increases microglial reactivity in the spinal cord but not in
the brain74
5.13 Chronic morphine treatment induces transcriptional changes in spinal
microglia76
6. DISCUSSION77
6.1 Pharmacokinetic interaction between diuretics and morphine or oxycodone . 77

6.2 Pharmacodynamic interaction between pregabalin and morphine or oxycod	one
	. 80
6.3 Chronic morphine treatment increases microglial reactivity	.84
6.4 Methodological and ethical considerations	. 86
6.5 Future perspectives	. 88
Conclusions	. 90
Acknowledgments	.91
References	. 93

List of abbreviations

ACC	Anterior cingulate cortex			
AMY	Amygdala			
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate			
BBB	Blood-brain barrier			
BCE	Before common era			
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor			
BG	Basal ganglia			
BSA	Bovine serum albumin			
CAMKII	Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II			
CCD	Chronic compression of dorsal root ganglia			
cDNA	Complementary DNA			
CGRP	Calcitonin gene-related peptide			
CNS	Central nervous system			
CX3CL1	Fractalkine			
СҮР	Cytochrome P450			
DAP12	DNAX activation protein of 12kDa			
DDD	Defined daily dose			
DOR	Delta opioid receptor			
DPA	Dynamic plantar aesthesiometer			
EAAC1	Excitatory amino-acid carrier 1			
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid			
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase			
FBS	Fetal bovine serum			
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate			
Fkbp5	FK506 binding protein 5			

FPKM	Fragments per kilobase of transcript per million mapped reads			
GABA	gamma-Aminobutyric acid			
GLAST	Glutamate aspartate transporter			
GLT-1	Glutamate transporter 1			
GR	Glucocorticoid receptor			
GRK	G protein-coupled receptor kinase			
i.p.	Intraperitoneal			
i.v.	Intravenous			
IASP	International Association for the Study of Pain			
IL-1	Interleukin 1			
IL-1β	Interleukin 1 beta			
IL-6	Interleukin 6			
Kcnn4	Potassium intermediate/small conductance calcium-activated channel,			
	subfamily N, member 4			
KOR	Kappa opioid receptor			
LC	Locus coeruleus			
LD ₅₀	Half maximal lethal dose			
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide			
M3G	Morphine-3-glucuronide			
M6G	Morphine-6-glucuronide			
MACS	Magnetic cell isolation and cell separation			
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase			
MOR	Mu opioid receptor			
MPE%	Percentage of maximum possible effect			
MR	Mineralocorticoid receptor			
n.d.	No date			
NMDA	<i>N</i> -methyl-D-aspartate			
NOP	Nociceptin receptor			

OIH	Opioid-induced hyperalgesia
P2RX4	P2X purinoceptor 4
P2RX7	P2X purinoceptor 7
PAG	Periaqueductal gray
PB	Parabrachial nucleus
PFC	Prefrontal cortex
P-gp	P-glycoprotein
РКА	Protein kinase A
РКС	Protein kinase C
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RVM	Rostroventral medulla
s.c.	Subcutaneous
S1	Primary somatosensory cortex
S1P	Sphingosine-1-phosphate
S2	Secondary somatosensory cortex
TLR4	Toll-like receptor 4
ΤΝFα	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
TREM2	Triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2
TRP	Transient receptor potential
UGT	Uridine 5'-diphospho-glucuronosyltransferase
USA	United States of America
VGCC	Voltage-gated calcium channel
VM	Ventral medulla
ω-CgTx	N-type calcium channel blocker $\omega\text{-conotoxin}\ \text{GVIA}$

ERRATA - 15th of November 2017.

Jokinen, Viljami

Opioid analgesia: modulation by drug interactions and glial activation

Corrected part in bold

Correction to page 15 reference, line 3: "Häkkinen et al., 2014"

Correction to Figure 2 legend: "...[J Clin Invest. **Central modulation of pain.**, Michael H. Ossipov et al., 2010. Year of copyright 2010];..."

Correction of typographical error page 26, line 22: "(Le Merrer et al., 2009))"

*Correction of substitution error page 27, line 6: "...*is a substance that binds to opioid receptors and produces **opium**-like effects,..."

Correction to reference page 27, line 5: "(Pain & Policy Studies Group, n.d.)"

Addition of a reference to a figure page 28, line 4: "...respectively, (Fig. 4B)"

Correction of typographical error page 33, line 8: "Section 2.4.2"

Correction of typographical error page 34, line7: "Section 2.4.2"

Correction to reference page 48, line 4: "Poggioli et al."

Correction of typographical error page 70, line 13: "Study I: Results"

Correction of typographical error page 36, line 12: "Fig. 7"

Correction to reference page 37, line 8: "...as discussed by Dumas et al. (2008):..."

Correction of typographical error page 39, line 17: "(Koppert, 2007.)"

Correction to reference page 51, line 2: "Häkkinen et al., 2014"

Correction of typographical error in Figure 10 legend: "Gurkoff et al.,..."

Correction to reference order in the bibliography: "Häkkinen, M., ..." should be located after the reference "Hutchinson, M.R., Zhang, Y ..."

Correction to reference <u>format</u>: page 34 line 24: "Okura et al. (2008)", page 47 line 9: "Karst et al. (2005)", line 16: "Grenados-Soto et al. (2015)", 21: "Chu et al. (1978)", page 48 line 4: "Poggioli et al. (1985)", page 55 line 9: "Brennan et al. (1996)", page 59 line 10: "Penttinen et al. (2016)", Page 80 line 12: "Heiskanen et al. (2008)", page 81 line 19: "Omote et al. (1996)", page 82 line 6: "Shimizu et al. (2004)", page 84 line: "Hutchinson et al. (2010)", page 85 line 10: "Hutchinson et al. (2009)", line 12: "Zhang et al. (2012)", page 86 line 8: "Kobyashi et al. (2016)". The references at the end of the respective sentences in the text are now unnecessary because they would be duplicate.

Abstract

Opioids are the most efficacious analgesics in the treatment of nociceptive pain. Opioid treatment can, however, be complicated by side effects and also tolerance and opioidinduced hyperalgesia. Therefore, drugs that potentiate opioid-induced analgesia and help reduce the required opioid dose can be beneficial as adjuvants in pain treatment. Interestingly, the mechanism of the attenuation of the analgesic effect of morphine in tolerance and opioid-induced hyperalgesia might be related to neuroinflammation in the central nervous system. The aims of this investigation were to study drug interactions that could potentiate the effects of opioids and prevent/reverse opioid tolerance, and also to assess the role of immunomodulating cells, microglia and astrocytes, in morphine tolerance opioid-induced hyperalgesia in male Sprague-Dawley and rats. Spironolactone, which has been suggested in the literature to potentiate the effects of morphine, did not display antinociceptive effects of its own in thermal tests, but acutely enhanced the morphine antinociception, most likely by inhibiting P-gp and increasing morphine brain concentrations. Spironolactone did not prevent the development of morphine tolerance. Spironolactone increased the antinociceptive effects and brain concentrations of oxycodone, probably via inhibition of metabolism. The increased brain disposition might be associated with P-gp inhibition.

Pregabalin enhanced the antinociceptive and sedative effects of both oxycodone and morphine in thermal tests. The interaction, however, differed between these opioids as it depended on the dose or/and temporal scheme of the drug administration. The behavioral results could not be explained by pharmacokinetic interaction at the central nervous system level. Pregabalin did not prevent or reverse morphine tolerance. Chronic morphine treatment induced tolerance and hyperalgesia. The associated immunohistochemically determined increase in microglia reactivity took place at the spinal but not supraspinal level. The transcriptome of the spinal microglia cells indicated upregulation of many inflammation and pain-associated genes. The results of this thesis imply that spironolactone has a robust pharmacokinetic interaction with morphine and oxycodone, which could have implications in opioid therapy. The interaction between pregabalin and opioids, however, does not seem to involve pharmacokinetic interaction. Thus, the results suggest that the drug interaction between pregabalin and opioids at the CNS level is pharmacodynamic. The transcriptome study of the spinal microglia strengthens the hypothesis that microglial activation after chronic morphine treatment is similar to activation that occurs with pathological pain.

List of original publications

This thesis is based on the following original publications, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

I The mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist spironolactone enhances morphine antinociception. Lilius, T.[#], Jokinen, V.[#], Neuvonen, M. S., Väänänen, A. J., Niemi, M., Rauhala, P. V., & Kalso, E. A. 2014. European Journal of Pain. 18, 3, 386-395. Included also in the doctoral thesis of Tuomas Lilius 'New insights into enhancing morphine analgesia: from glia to pharmacokinetics', 2014. [#]Authors contributed equally to the study.

II Do Diuretics have Antinociceptive Actions: Studies of Spironolactone, Eplerenone, Furosemide and Chlorothiazide, Individually and with Oxycodone and Morphine. Jokinen, V., Lilius, T., Laitila, J., Niemi, M., Kambur, O., Kalso, E., & Rauhala, P. 2017. Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology. 120, 1, 38-45.

III Pregabalin enhances the antinociceptive effect of oxycodone and morphine in thermal models of nociception in the rat without any pharmacokinetic interactions. Jokinen, V., Lilius, T., Laitila, J., Niemi, M., Rauhala, P., & Kalso, E. 2016. European Journal of Pain. 20, 2, 297-306.

IV Differential spinal and supraspinal activation of glia in a rat model of morphine tolerance. Jokinen, V., Sidorova, Y., Viisanen H., Suleymanova I., Tiilikainen H., Li Z., Lilius T., Mätlik K., Anttila J., Airavaara M., Tian L., Rauhala P., & Kalso E. 2017. Submitted.

These publications have been reprinted with the kind permission of their copyright holders. In addition, some unpublished material is presented.

1. Introduction

Opioid drugs constitute the cornerstone of the treatment of moderate-severe acute, postoperative, and cancer pain. Although the analgesic efficacy of opioids is not restricted by a ceiling effect, in practice the opioid dose and analgesia can be limited by side effects. Therefore, other drugs that potentiate opioid-induced analgesia and help reduce the required opioid dose can be beneficial as adjuvants in pain treatment. Besides beneficial modulation, previously unrecognized interactions between opioids and other drugs can affect the opioid response and compromise the treatment.

Interestingly, the literature suggests that diuretics might exert an antinociceptive effect (Granados-Soto et al., 2005; Poggioli et al., 1985; Sun et al., 2012) of their own and modulate the effects of opioids (Chu et al., 1978; Poggioli et al., 1985) in preclinical models. Antinociceptive mechanisms of individual diuretics include attenuation of microglial activation (Sun et al., 2012), antagonism of mineralocorticoid receptor (Dong et al., 2012), and blocking of the neural sodium-potassium-chloride co-transporter (Granados-Soto et al., 2005). The mechanism of the suggested interactions between diuretics and opioids remains unknown.

Gabapentinoids have reduced the amount of opioids needed to alleviate experimental nociceptive pain in healthy volunteers (Eckhardt et al., 2000) and in postoperative pain (Clarke et al., 2009; Fassoulaki et al., 2012; Mahoori et al., 2014; Tiippana et al., 2007; Yücel et al., 2011). Drug interactions can be either pharmacokinetic and take place at the level of absorption, distribution, metabolism, and elimination or pharmacodynamic and take place at the molecular level, governing the response of the body to the drug. To characterize the nature of the interaction, drug concentration measurements might be required. Indeed, although pregabalin is not known to have any drug interactions, a

pharmacokinetic interaction between pregabalin and opioids has not been excluded. The interaction between pregabalin and opioids is also interesting as both drugs have been shown to be co-abused in forensic cases (Häkkinen, 2014), indicating that abuse of pregabalin might predispose to opioid-induced respiratory depression.

Opioids also modulate their own analgesic effect by initiating adaptive processes like opioid-tolerance and opioid-induced-hyperalgesia (OIH), both of which can undermine the treatment (Watkins et al., 2009). Opioid tolerance and OIH might share a common neurobiological basis and the activation of microglia and related neuroinflammation has emerged as one possible mechanism contributing to the development of opioid tolerance and OIH (Cui et al., 2006; Grace et al., 2015; Raghavendra et al., 2002; Watkins et al., 2009).

In this thesis, pharmacological interactions between the diuretics spironolactone, eplerenone, furosemide, and chlorothiazide and the anticonvulsant pregabalin in coadministration with oxycodone and morphine were studied. In addition to drugs that could modulate opioid antinociception, we assessed the reactivity of microglia and astrocytes in morphine tolerance in spinal and supraspinal structures.

2. Review of the literature

2.1 Definition of pain

Pain is "an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage, or described in terms of such damage" (International Association for the Study of Pain, IASP).

2.2 Physiology of nociception and pain

The neural process that encodes noxious stimuli (nociception - according to the International Association for the Study of Pain) that alerts the organism of an imminent threat to its structural integrity is well preserved within evolution in different species (Sneddon, 2004). The consequence of nociception - motor response to withdraw from noxious stimuli or motivation to let damaged tissue heal provides an obvious advantage for survival. In the last centuries, many theories attempting to explain the physiology of nociception have been presented. For example, in the *Specificity theory*, all sensory modalities, including pain, have dedicated and distinct pathways, whereas in the *Intensity theory* separate pathways do not exist and the intensity of all stimuli is encoded in the frequency of the nerve impulses (Moayedi and Davis, 2012). An important step forward was taken with the *Gate control theory*, which postulated that the transmission in the fibers conveying touch information can affect whether the fibers conveying noxious stimulation can relay their information onwards (Melzack and Wall, 1965; Moayedi and Davis, 2012). According to the current knowledge, the phases of nociception and pain can be functionally divided into transduction, transmission,

modulation, and perception, all of which take place in specific structures of the nervous system.

2.2.1 Nociceptors and nocireceptors

Nociceptors are the first neurons in the nociceptive pathway. The cells are pseudounipolar with their somas in the trigeminal ganglion (Fig. 1A) or dorsal root ganglion (Fig. 1B). According to the Erlanger Gasser classification (Whitwam, 1976), the nociceptors are further divided into $A\delta$ and C fibers based on the diameter of the axon. A δ fibers are myelinated and conduct action potentials fast (5-30 m/s) (Marchland, 2012a). A δ fibers evoke sharp, localized pain and respond to all noxious modalities (chemical, heat, mechanical) (type I) and to heat with relatively low threshold (type II) (Basbaum et al., 2009). Aδ type II fibers convey rapid signaling of noxious heat (Basbaum et al., 2009). Most C fibers are also considered polymodal, but their activation produces more ill-localized pain and sufficient activation can evoke a burning sensation (Basbaum et al., 2009). Unlike A δ , C fibers are unmyelinated and conduct action potentials slowly (0.5-2 m/s) (Marchland, 2012a). In addition to the actual nociceptors, AB fibers that in normal conditions convey impulses from innocuous mechanical stimuli can begin to contribute to allodynia ("Pain due to a stimulus that does not normally provoke pain", IASP) under conditions where the CNS is sensitized (Marchland, 2012a).

The distal ends of the axons on the nociceptors lay in the peripheral tissues or viscera. All nociceptors have unmyelinated, free nerve-endings, which contain the actual molecular receptors (transducers) of the noxious stimuli. The transducers are a heterogeneous group of membrane-bound-proteins that include metabotropic, enzyme-linked receptors, and ionotropic channels (Woolf and Costigan, 1999). Important individual group of transducers is transient receptor potential (TRP) channels, for review, see Julius (2013). Unlike the other primary afferents, nociceptors are activated only by stimuli whose magnitude exceeds the high threshold, which can be attributed to the high activation threshold of the transducing molecules (Woolf and Ma, 2007).

Transducers begin the first phase of nociception by transducing the noxious stimuli into action potentials. The action potentials are generated and conducted by voltage-gated sodium channels (VGCC), of which Na_v1.7, Na_v1.8, and Na_v1.9 are particularly important (Dib-Hajj et al., 2010). The hereditary channelopathies which prevent the depolarization from amplifying into action potential can cause inability to experience pain (Cox et al., 2006). Propagation of the action potential along the axon leads to the *transmission* phase of nociception.



Figure 1. Schematic diagram of the anatomy of nociceptors from the head (A) and elsewhere from the body (B). Trigeminal nucleus (Vc). Republished and modified with permission of American Society for Clinical Investigation from [J Clin Invest. Nociceptors: the sensors of the pain pathway, Adrienen E. Dubin et al., 2010. Year of copyright 2010]; permission conveyed through Copyright Clearance Center, Inc.

2.2.2 Role of spinal cord and medulla oblongata in nociception

The proximal end of the nociceptor forms a synapse with the second order afferent neuron or interneuron either in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord or trigeminal nucleus in the brain stem. C fibers synapse in laminae I and II and A δ fibers in laminae I and V of the dorsal horn (Fig. 1) (Dubin and Patapoutian, 2010). The synapses are excitatory and use glutamate, neuropeptides such as calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) and substance P, and proteins, including brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) as neurotransmitters (Basbaum et al., 2009; Woolf and Ma, 2007). Interneurons can, for example, produce direct neuronal interlinks to the motor nerves and facilitate spinal reflexes, but also locally inhibit the transmission from the afferent fibers. The axons of second order neurons decussate to the contralateral side and ascend via the anterolateral system of the spinal cord to the thalamus (spinothalamic tract) in diencephalon or reticular formation (spinoreticular tract) in the pons (Westlund and Willis, 2015). From the trigeminal nucleus, the axons to the thalamus and reticular formation ascend via the trigeminothalamic (Henssen et al., 2016) and the trigeminoreticular tracts (Panneton et al., 2011), respectively. Both the spinal cord and the trigeminal nucleus also project to the amygdala via the parabrachial complex (Jasmin et al., 1997). The tracts projecting to the thalamus mediate the sensory-discriminative dimension of pain (Fig. 2), and the tracts to the amygdala the motivational-affective dimension (Ab Aziz and Ahmad, 2006). Projections for reticular formation mediate poorly localized pain (Patestas et al., 2016), but also induce changes in alertness (Mendoza, 2011) as a response to noxious stimuli.

The *modulation* phase has a significant role in nociception and pain. The modulation exists in the form of a descending modulatory circuit that can produce strong endogenous analgesia, but can also facilitate nociceptive transmission (Fig. 2) (Colloca and Grillon, 2014), for example, due to an emotional status. The descending modulation

gathers input from multiple areas, including the amygdala, the rostral anterior cingulate cortex, and the ascending tracts (Ossipov et al., 2010). Signals from the supraspinal structures converge to the periaqueductal gray (PAG) in the midbrain, which projects to the medulla (Ossipov et al., 2010) (Fig. 2). From the rostroventromedial medulla (RVM), the neurons of nucleus raphe magnus and nucleus reticularis gigantocellularis project signals to both the spinal and medullary dorsal horns directly or via interneurons to govern the nociceptive input from the periphery (Ossipov et al., 2010).

GABAergic and glycinergic neurotransmission from the ventral medulla to the spinal cord is antinociceptive (Hossaini et al., 2012; Kato et al., 2006), but the subtype of the serotonin receptor determines whether the serotonergic transmission evokes excitatory or inhibitory effects (Ossipov et al., 2010). Antinociceptive noradrenergic projections to the spinal cord descend from the locus coeruleus, which itself closely communicates with PAG and RVM (Llorca-Torralba et al., 2016; Ossipov et al., 2010). Recent studies have also described direct descending modulatory circuits from the cortex to the dorsal spinal horn and trigeminal nucleus (Wang et al., 2015). The interneurons which can get input from both the peripheral afferents and descending tracts use, for example, enkephalinergic (François et al., 2017) and GABAergic/glycinergic transmission when inhibitory and glutamate when excitatory (Todd, 2010).

21



Figure 2. Schematic diagram of pain modularity circuitry. Periaqueductal gray (PAG), Locus Coeruleus (LC), Rostroventral medulla (RVM). Republished and modified with permission of American Society for Clinical Investigation from [J Clin Invest. Nociceptors: the sensors of the pain pathway, Michael H. Ossipov et al., 2010. Year of copyright 2010]; permission conveyed through Copyright Clearance Center, Inc.

2.2.3 Nociception and pain in the brain

Perception, the last phase of nociception, takes place in the brain (Fig. 3). Cognitive functions are required to feel pain, at least with regard to how pain is defined. Thus, pain is not only a sensory experience but a complex sensation, which is affected by personality, memories, mood, and expectations. Considering the multidimensional role of pain, it is easy to understand that nociceptive information from the spinal cord and trigeminal nucleus is relayed to multiple brain regions. Although not specific for pain (lannetti and Mouraux, 2010), four cortical structures have a dominant role in the brain: primary and secondary somatosensory cortices are important in the sensory-discriminative dimension of pain, whereas insular cortex and anterior cingulate cortex participate in processing of the motivational-affective dimension (Marchland, 2012b) (Fig. 3). However, also subcortical structures like the amygdala have an important contribution to pain (Simons et al., 2012).



Figure 3. Schematic diagram of the brain areas involved in pain and nociception. Red labels indicate an association with the motivational-affective component of pain and blue labels a sensory-discriminative association. Prefrontal cortex (PFC), Anterior Cingulate Cortex (ACC), Amygdala (AMY), Basal ganglia (BG), Primary somatosensory cortex (S1), Secondary somatosensory cortex (S2), Parabrachial nucleus (PB), and Periaqueductal gray (PAG). Adapted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: [Nat. Rev. Neurosci., Cognitive and emotional control of pain and its disruption in chronic pain, Bushnell et al., 2013. Year of copyright 2013.]

2.3 Endogenous opioid system

The endogenous opioid system is an essential part of the central descending modulatory circuit. However, the endogenous opioid system also participates in peripheral analgesia, reinforcement networks, and modulation of stress and mood (Le Merrer et al., 2009; Vadivelu et al., 2011). The system consists of widespread but strategically concentrated opioid receptors and endogenous agonists, and it also mediates the effects of the exogenous opioid agonists, as is covered under Section 2.4 'Exogenous opioids'.

2.3.1 Opioid receptors and their endogenous agonists

The endogenous opioids comprise peptides in the β -endorphin, enkephalin, and dynorphin families (Benarroch, 2012). Enkephalins and dynorphins are expressed in interneurons, including those that participate in the modulation of nociception in the PAG-RVM-axis and the dorsal horn and trigeminal nucleus (Benarroch, 2012). β -endorphins also participate in the modulation of nociception, but they project widely across the CNS from the nuclei at the brain stem and diencephalon (Benarroch, 2012) and are also secreted to the circulation from the pituitary gland (van Den Burg et al., 2001). In addition, opioid peptides are secreted from immune cells in peripheral tissue, for review, see Kapitzke et al. (2005). The individual endogenous opioid peptides have differential affinity profiles to the opioid receptors (Kapitzke et al., 2005).

Four opioid receptors: μ - (MOR), κ - (KOR)-, and δ (DOR)-opioid receptors and opioid-likereceptor-1 (ORL-1) or nociceptin receptor (NOP), have been identified (Table 1). The opioid receptors belong to the family of seven transmembrane G protein-coupled receptors and are encoded by a single gene (OPRM1, OPRK1, OPRD1, and OPRL1, respectively) (Al-Hasani and Bruchas, 2011). Opioid receptors can further form dimers either with the same or a different opioid receptor type, increasing opioid receptor variety (Al-Hasani and Bruchas, 2011). Subtypes of the different receptors produced by RNA splicing also exist, but their biological relevance remains unclear (Al-Hasani and Bruchas, 2011). Opioid receptors are highly conserved and are present in most species (Dreborg et al., 2008). However, the opioid system does not seem to be imperative for the development or survival of the individual, as genetically modified mice with no opioid receptors are fertile and stay alive at least in laboratory conditions (Kieffer, 1999).

Opioid receptors reside in critical locations of the descending pain modulation circuit, including the anterior cingulate cortex, PAG-RVM axis, and superficial dorsal spinal cord, although the distribution of the different receptors varies (Benarroch, 2012). Studies using knockout mice have demonstrated that MOR, KOR, and DOR have distinct roles in the physiological regulation of nociception and that their individual ablation causes subtle differences in nociceptive tests. For example, KOR has been shown to be involved in spinally mediated thermal nociception, and MOR elicited an effect in mechanical nociception caused by conditioned fear was attenuated by intra-RVM injection of MOR but not KOR antagonists (Foo and Helmstetter, 1999), and intra-PAG injection of MOR but not KOR antagonist (Bellgowan et al., 1998). The results are in harmony with the activation of MOR being required for antinociceptive effect of potent exogenous opioids (Kieffer and Gaveriaux-Ruff, 2002).

Opioid circuits are also found in brain sites associated with reward-processing and addiction, including the ventral tegmental area, nucleus accumbens, and amygdala (Le Merrer et al., 2009)). In addition to their central functions, opioid receptors are a constitutive part of the peripheral nervous system, where their role has especially been studied in inflammation-related analgesia (Vadivelu et al., 2011).

Table 1. Opioid receptors and their agonist and antagonists. μ -opioid receptor, MOR (μ), δ -opioid receptor, DOR (δ), κ -opioid receptor, KOR (κ), Nociceptin receptor (NOP). (Chartoff and Connery, 2014; Contet et al., 2004; Eguchi, 2004; Gaveriaux-Ruff and Kieffer, 2011; Land et al., 2008; Zaveri et al., 2005)

Opioid receptor	Endogenous agonist	Selective agonist	Selective antagonist	Effects of activation
μ	β-endorphin, Met-Leu enkephalin	DAMGO, JOM-5, ADAMB	MET-CAMO, DOC-CAM, CYPRODIME	analgesia, euphoria, addiction
δ	β-endorphin, Met-Leu enkephalin	BM373U86, JOM-13, SL-3111	Indolomorphinan naltrindole,Naltriben, Portoghese	analgesia
к	Dynorphin	TRK-820, Scopes 1992, Cl-977	nor-binltorphimine, JDTic, 5'- GNTI	dysphoria, analgesia
NOP	Nociceptin	hexahydropyrrolopyrrole	J-113397	modulation of opioid receptors, immunomodulation

2.4 Exogenous opioids

2.4.1 Clinical use

Opioid is a substance that binds to opioid receptors and produces morphine-like effects, whereas the term opiate refers to compounds found in the opium poppy plant. Opiates have been used for thousands of years. Archeological studies implicate the use of opium already in 14th century BCE in Minoan civilization (Askitopoulou et al., 2002). Morphine was extracted from opium first in 1805, and since then many synthetic or semi-synthetic (synthetized from opiates) opioid agonists have been developed. In the modern world, opioids are still the analgesics known to have the highest efficacy in the treatment of nociceptive pain.

The global consumption of opioids has been on the rise during the past three decades, but reached a plateau between 2010 and 2015 (Pain & Policy Studies Group, 2015; Silbermann, 2011) (Fig. 4A). The use, however, is highly dissimilar between countries; in 2008, countries with 15% of the world's population consumed 89% of the global morphine (Silbermann, 2011). In Finland in 2015, the consumption of strong opioids and weak opioids was 3 and 11 defined daily doses (DDD)/1000 inhabitants/day (Fimea, n.d.), respectively. The main indication for the use of opioids is moderate to severe pain. Opioids are widely used to treat acute nociceptive (Ramsay, 2000) and cancer pain (Caraceni et al., 2012). Opioids are also used in the management of neuropathic pain, although they are not the first-line choice (Dworkin et al., 2010). The careless use of opioids in non-malignant chronic pain can easily lead to problems due to the reinforcing effect of opioids on drug-seeking behavior (Chou et al., 2009). From the clinical perspective, opioids can be classified as weak, intermediate, or strong. In Finland, the following opioids are used as analgesics outside hospital in clinical practice: codeine and tramadol (weak opioids), buprenorphine (intermediate opioid), and morphine, oxycodone, fentanyl, methadone, and hydromorphone (strong opioids).





В



Figure 4. Consumption of opioids globally (A) and in Finland (B). Defined daily doses (DDD). (Fimea, 2016, 2012, 2010, n.d.; Pain & Policy Studies Group, n.d.)

2.4.2 Opioid-induced analgesia

Opioid-induced analgesia is elicited via activation of the endogenous opioid system (Fig. 5). Analgesia comprises three system-level mechanisms: 1) emotional detachment from the pain, which has been shown to be due to MOR-mediated activity in the limbic system of the brain (Lee et al., 2014; Leppä et al., 2006.), 2) facilitation of the descending inhibitory system, and 3) inhibition of transmission of peripheral nociceptive input in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord and trigeminal nucleus.

Interaction with the MOR as their mechanism of action is common to all exogenous opioid agonists (later only opioids) (Drewes et al., 2013). MOR is the most abundant opioid receptor in the supraspinal level, including the brainstem, amygdala, and thalamus (Benarroch, 2012). Specifically, the PAG-RVM axis, which has been shown to have high density of MOR (Commons et al., 2000), and intra-PAG injection of MOR antagonist have been demonstrated to attenuate the antinociceptive effect of systemic morphine (Bernal et al., 2007; Lewis and Gebhart, 1977). MOR comprises also 70% of the total opioid receptors in the spinal level, where the opioid receptors are concentrated presynaptically (~70%) in nociceptors and postsynaptically (~30%) in interneurons or projection neurons (Besse et al., 1990). Activation of MOR by opioid agonist causes the dissociation of the G-protein subunits G $\beta\gamma$ and G α . The G $\beta\gamma$ activates inwardly rectifying potassium channels in the post-synaptic nerve terminal (Zylbergold et al., 2010), and deactivates voltage-dependent Ca²⁺-channels presynaptically (Dolphin, 1998). $G\alpha_i$ inhibits adenylate cyclase, and thus, formation of cAMP (Hsia et al., 1984). The described events lead to inhibition of neuronal activity. In addition, activation of MOR is followed by intracellular mechanisms that desensitize the receptor signaling and could be interpreted as adaptation aiming to preserve homeostasis. The process is mediated via MOR phosphorylation and β -arrestin binding, which disturb the cell signaling and might lead to MOR internalization (Groer et al., 2006). Opioid-induced

analgesia is effectively blocked with the MOR antagonist naloxone (Markowitz et al., 1976).



Figure 5. Schematic diagram of opioid action sites. Periaqueductal gray (PAG), Rostroventral medulla (RVM).

2.4.3 Adverse effects

Opioid administration can cause adverse effects that limit dosing and thus effectiveness of the opioid treatment. In a meta-analysis of non-malignant chronic pain patients, the most common adverse effects and their incidence were constipation (33%), nausea (26%), and sedation (23%) (Kalso et al., 2004). Opioids can also elicit other adverse effects, including pruritus and bladder dysfunction (Benyamin et al., 2008). Opioidinduced immunomodulating effects via alteration of the endocrine system or immune cells are also possible, but their clinical relevance is less clear (Welters, 2003). Typically, patients experience adverse effects at the beginning of opioid treatment or during dose escalation, but these effects might continue also during the maintenance dose in chronic (Benyamin et al., 2008; Smith and Laufer, 2014). The most severe treatment complication of opioids is respiratory depression. Respiratory depression is the prevalent mechanism of death in opioid overdose in drug addicts (White and Irvine, 1999), but also the legal use of an opioid can predispose to respiratory depression; prescribed opioids were the most significant drugs involved in drug overdose fatalities in the USA in 2015 (CDC, 2016).

The adverse effects are mediated via both peripheral and central mechanisms. Constipation, for example, is caused by the activation of MOR and DOR in the submucosa and myenteric plexuses of the gastrointestinal tract, leading to inhibition of motility of the small and large intestine (Nelson et al., 2016). The specific mechanisms of the opioid central adverse effects are less clear. Opioid-induced nausea and vomiting probably encompasses activation of MOR in the chemoreceptor trigger zone in the medulla and vestibular apparatus in the inner ear (Smith and Laufer, 2014). Opioid-induced sedation seems to arise from central anticholinergic effects, but also from parallel inhibitory effects on cerebral activity (Vella-Brincat and Macleod., 2007). Studies indicate that the mechanism of respiratory depression is associated with the opioid actions at the bulbar respiratory network (Lalley et al., 2014). Other drugs, such as anti-emetics and peripheral opioid antagonists, are often needed to alleviate opioid-induced adverse effects (Smith and Laufer, 2014).

2.4.4 Morphine

Morphine is the classical MOR agonist (Pasternak and Pan, 2013) and although other opioids are replacing it in clinical medicine it has an established place as the reference drug in pharmacology. The pharmacodynamic mechanism of morphine is covered under Section 2.3.2 'Opioid-induced analgesia'. Morphine is glucuronidated to morphine-3-glucuronide (M3G) and morphine-6-glucuronide (M6G) mainly in the liver by UGT2B7 (Coffman et al., 1997) and N-demethylated to normorphine by CYP3A4 (Projean et al., 2003; Hasselström and Säwe, 1993) (Fig. 6). The rat, however, produces no M6G from morphine (Kuo et al., 1991). M3G is inactive at MOR, but M6G possesses potent analgesic efficacy, which is considered to contribute significantly to morphine analgesia (De Gregori et al., 2012). Bioavailability of orally administered morphine is about 30% (Hasselström and Säwe, 1993) in humans, and of the total morphine dose, 9% (i.v.) and 2% (p.o.) is excreted in urine as morphine, 44% (i.v.) and 42% (p.o.) as M3G, and 11% (i.v.) and 3% (p.o.) as M6G (Osborne et al., 1990).

Drug transporters can exert significant effects in governing morphine and its metabolite disposition in the CNS. P-gp actively transports morphine out of the CNS across the blood-brain-barrier (BBB), and blocking P-gp pharmacologically and removing its expression from the BBB has increased morphine brain concentrations in the rat (De Gregori et al., 2012; Letrent et al., 1999; Xie et al., 1999). The P-gp blockers quinidine (Kharasch et al., 2003) and itraconazole (Heiskanen et al., 2008) did not, however, appear to have a significant effect on morphine brain disposition, but probably by inhibiting P-gp in the periphery they increased morphine plasma concentrations. Other

relevant drug transporters at the BBB are the probenecid-sensitive organic anion transporter, which facilitates transport of M3G (Xie et al., 2000), and the organic cation transporter 2, which facilitates transport of morphine (Mashayekhi et al., 2010).

2.4.5 Oxycodone

Oxycodone is a semi-synthetic MOR agonist that is increasingly used in clinical medicine (Lemberg et al., 2006). The pharmacodynamic mechanism of oxycodone is covered under Section 2.3.2 'Opioid-induced analgesia'. Oxycodone is metabolized in the liver mainly to noroxycodone, oxymorphone, and noroxymorphone (Fig. 6). The CYP3A *N*-demethylates oxycodone to noroxycodone and oxymorphone to noroxymorphone, whereas CYP 2D6 *O*-demethylates oxycodone to oxymorphone, but also noroxycodone and oxymorphone to noroxymorphone (Lalovic et al., 2006; 2004; Samer et al., 2010). The role of the metabolites in oxycodone-induced analgesia is considered negligible (Lemberg et al., 2009), although intrathecal administration of noroxymorphone itself is used as an opioid analgesic (Babalonis et al., 2016). Oxycodone has a bioavailability of 60% (Pöyhia et al., 1992), and of the total orally administered dose of oxycodone, 9% is excreted in urine, 22% as noroxycodone, 11% as oxymorphone, and 14% as noroxymorphone (all presented as sum of free and conjugated proportions) (Lalovic et al., 2006).

The role of transporter molecules in the oxycodone disposition across the blood-brain barrier is incompletely understood. Boström et al showed using microdialysis that oxycodone concentrations in the brain were disproportionately high relative to blood, indicating involvement of active oxycodone transport in the rat BBB (Boström, 2006; Boström et al., 2008). Interestingly, Okura et al. have suggested that oxycodone intake in the CNS is mediated via an organic cation transporter responsible for pyrilamine transport in vitro and in situ in the rat (Okura et al., 2008), which could explain the results of Boström et al. Whether oxycodone is a substrate to P-gp is unclear. Co-administration of P-gp substrate PSC833 failed to alter oxycodone brain concentrations in the rat, suggesting that P-gp might not effectively participate in oxycodone efflux from the CNS (Bostrom et al., 2005). On the other hand, the investigation conducted in P-gp knock-out mice showed that presence of P-gp reduced concentrations of oxycodone in the brain (Hassan et al., 2007). Of the active oxycodone metabolites, oxymorphone has been shown to be actively transported to the CNS, but still the concentrations are probably too low to contribute to analgesia (Sadiq et al., 2013). Noroxymorphone is likely unable to cross the BBB due to its low lipophilicity (Lemberg et al., 2008).



Figure 6. Schematic presentation of metabolism of morphine and oxycodone. Rat produces no morphine-6-glucuronide. Uridine 5'-diphospho-glucuronosyltransferase (UGT), Cytochrome P450 (CYP). (Coffman et al., 1997; Hasselström and Säwe, 1993; Kuo et al., 1991; Lalovic et al., 2004; Projean et al., 2003).
2.4.6 Loperamide

Loperamide is a synthetic opioid used to decrease gastrointestinal motility. Peripherally administered loperamide does not distribute to the CNS, thus demonstrating no central effects, but intrathecal (Kumar et al., 2012) administration produces MOR-dependent antinociception. The restriction of loperamide to the periphery is considered to be mediated via strong P-gp efflux at the BBB (Wandel et al., 2002). In accordance, the Pgp inhibitor quinidine has increased loperamide brain concentration in the rat (Dagenais et al., 2004), and in P-gp knock-out mice the radioactivity of the brain tissue after administration of radio-labeled loperamide increased 12.5-fold compared with wild-type mice (Schinkel et al., 1995).

2.4.7 The molecular structure of morphine, oxycodone, and loperamide

The molecular structures of the opioids used in the present study (morphine, oxycodone and loperamide) are presented in Fig 7. The alkaloids morphine, oxycodone, and loperamide have molecular weight of 285, 315, 477 grams/mole and molecular formula of $C_{17}H_{19}NO_3$, $C_{18}H_{21}NO_4$, and $C_{29}H_{33}CIN_2O_2$, respectively.



Figure 7. Molecular structure of morphine (A), oxycodone (B), and loperamide (C).

2.4.8 Opioid tolerance and opioid-induced hyperalgesia

Opioid tolerance refers to acquired tolerance, which can be defined as loss of opioid efficacy following exposure to the drug. Tolerance has behavioral, pharmacokinetic, and pharmacodynamic dimensions (Collett, 1998). Behavioral tolerance refers to the individual being adapted to functioning under the influence of a substance (Collett, 1998). The relevance of the pharmacokinetic dimension of tolerance is considered somewhat unclear (Dumas et al., 2008): it seems that opioids do not markedly auto-induce biotransformation enzymes of phase I (Fredheim et al., 2012) or II (Rane et al., 1983), however, Oxycodone (Hassan et al., 2007) and morphine (Aquilante et al., 2000) have been shown to induce the expression of the drug transporter P-gp, which could

alter the distribution of the P-gp substrate opioids in the brain, and in theory, contribute to opioid tolerance.

Despite extensive research, the pharmacodynamic tolerance remains poorly understood. Studies indicate that the phenomenon encompasses multiple mechanisms, which seem to be differentially activated in response to different MOR agonists (Allouche et al., 2014). Numerous studies have demonstrated that binding of MOR agonist induces phosphorylation of MOR by many protein kinases, including G proteincoupled receptor kinases (GRKs), protein kinase C (PKC) and A (PKA), Ca²⁺/camodulindependent protein kinase II (CaMKII), and mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) (Liu and Anand, 2001). Notably, the degree of the receptor phosphorylation has been shown to correspond to the opioid ligand efficacy (Yu et al., 1997). The phosphorylation of MOR is followed by binding of β -arrestines, which causes a steric block to the involved G-protein, disturbing the signaling to the effector molecule (Williams et al., 2012). Phosphorylation of MOR by itself is not sufficient to disturb the signaling to the inwardly rectifying potassium channels and to desensitize the receptor, but requires the binding of arrestines (Kovoor et al., 1997). The desensitized MOR is often internalized, dephosphorylated, and recycled resensitized to the cell membrane (Williams et al., 2012). It is also possible that the internalized MOR is alternatively routed to degradation in lysosomes (Williams et al., 2012). The downregulation of the opioid receptors is, however, not considered necessary for the development of tolerance, as the expression of the opioid receptors has been shown to both upregulate and downregulate in chronic opioid treatment (Allouche et al., 2014). Particularly, the downregulation of MOR is not considered relevant in morphine-induced tolerance, as morphine differs from many other opioid agonists in that it is not considered to undergo MOR internalization (Dumas and Pollack, 2008; Williams et al., 2012). Morphine, however, also induces MOR phosphorylation (Mann et al., 2014), and deletion of β -arrestin has led into decreased development of morphine tolerance (Bohn et al., 2000). Failure of internalization of MOR after morphine treatment might explain the reduced MOR recovery from desensitization after chronic morphine treatment, thus contributing to morphine tolerance (Dang and Williams, 2004). Other theories of opioid tolerance include glia activation, are covered in Section 2.4.9 'Role of glia in opioid analgesia'.

Opioid-induced hyperalgesia (OIH) refers to a phenomenon where administration of opioids provokes rather than alleviates pain. Although OIH is clinically acknowledged (Tompkins and Campbell, 2011), no publications asserting its epidemiology exist, probably because it is difficult to discern OIH from the development of opioid tolerance and progression of the underlying disease in patients (Lee et al., 2011).

Indeed, in addition to their analgesic effects, opioids can cause sensitization to pain. The *Opponent Process Theory* can be used to conceptualize how these separate counteracting processes determine the opioid response (Koppert, 2007). The analgesic effect of opioid arises if the opioid-induced antinociceptive processes surpass the concomitant opioid-induced pronociceptive processes. The recruitment of the pronociceptive processes reduces the analgesic efficacy of opioids and if the relative strength of these processes overcomes the antinociceptive processes, analgesia reverses to pain (Koppert, 2007.). It is therefore possible that the diminished antinociceptive effect of an opioid in developed tolerance is a sum of two components: desensitization to the antinociceptive effect of the opioid and enhanced recruitment of opioid-induced pronociceptive processes (Koppert, 2007).

Opioid-induced tolerance and pronociception apparently share common mechanisms, of which the activation of the excitatory glutaminergic system in the synapse between the first and second order afferent seems the most prominent (Lee et al., 2011). Antagonism of glutamate-sensitive NMDA receptors has attenuated both OIH and tolerance (Mao et al., 1994; Mert et al., 2009), and morphine-induced downregulation

of synaptic glutamate uptake transporters EAAC1 and GLAST has been demonstrated to have a correlation with the development of morphine tolerance and thermal hyperalgesia in the rat (Mao et al., 2002). In accordance, amitriptyline has reversed morphine tolerance while increasing the expression of glutamine uptake transporters GLAST and GLT-1 and decreasing the concentrations of glutamate in the CFS (Tai et al., 2007). In both the studies of Mao et al. and Tai et al., the occurrence of hyperalgesia and/or tolerance was prevented by protein kinase C inhibitor, indicating its pivotal role in the regulation of the glutamatergic system in response to opioids. The increased dorsal horn activity after opioid treatment might relate also to direct increase of glutamate release from the subpopulation of TRPV1-expressing spinal neurons and associated strengthening of the synapse via long-term potentiation (H.-Y. Zhou et al., 2010). Increase of glutamate release from MOR-containing neurons in opioid tolerance has also been detected in the nucleus raphe magnus, possibly facilitating spinal nociception (Bie and Pan, 2005). The emerging role of glia in synaptic modulation in opioid-induced tolerance and pronociception is discussed in the next section.

Another possible mechanism for opioid tolerance and pronociception is increased production of dynorphins. The role of dynorphins in the development of chronic pain has been established by many investigations, for review, see Podvin et al. (2016). Indeed, dynorphin antiserum injection blocked MOR agonist DAMGO-induced tactile allodynia and reversed thermal hyperalgesia in the rat (Vanderah et al., 2000). Other theories include the opioid-induced expression of cholecystokinin octapeptide, which has been shown to reduce the antinociceptive effect of opioids (Han et al., 1993), and upregulation of the β 2-adrenergic signaling system (Liang et al., 2007).

40

2.4.9 Role of glia in pain and opioid analgesia

The term 'glia', glue in Greek, reflects the passive and structural role in the CNS that glial cells (oligodendrocytes, satellite-glia, Schwann cells, microglia, and astrocytes) were first thought to play. What is now, however, well recognized is that microglia and astrocytes actively participate in the function of the nervous system by modulating neurotransmission reciprocally with the neurons and affecting the development and maintenance of synapses (Auld and Robitaille, 2003; Salter and Beggs, 2014). Specifically, the glia-neuron interfaces may also be involved in the chronic pain development, as many studies have revealed that glia-derived neuromodulators can affect the function of the spinal neurons related to nociceptive signaling, for review, see Grace et al. (2014). Interestingly, also opioids may facilitate many of the same pronociceptive glia-to-neuron mechanisms, and they can oppose opioid-induced analgesia, thus contributing to opioid tolerance and OIH (Fig. 8) (Watkins et al., 2005).

Reinforcement of nociception by glia in pathological pain is based on 1) initiators (such as ATP and chemokines) leading to 2) glia activation (via signaling routes ERK and p38, for example), and consequently to 3) secretion of glia-derived soluble mediators (such as interleukins and tumour necrosis factor) (Grace et al. 2014). Notably, the described steps in pathological pain, such as neuropathic pain, seem to be similar in the pathogenesis of opioid tolerance (Watkins et al., 2005). Specifically, opioid-associated initiators include substances such as fractalkine (CX3CL1) (Johnston, 2004), sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) (Muscoli et al., 2010), and probably adenosine triphosphate (ATP) (Horvath et al., 2010; D. Zhou et al., 2010). Opioid-induced activation of glia has been shown to involve mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling routes ERK and p38 in microglia and astrocytes (Cui et al., 2006; Z. Wang et al., 2010a; 2009). The mechanism how opioids activate glia is, in part, unclear. Microglia and astrocytes may express MOR, KOR, and DOR (Chao et al., 1997; Horvath et al., 2010; Turchan-Cholewo et al., 2008), and migration of microglial cells has been shown to depend on μ -opioid receptor activation in vitro (Horvath et al., 2010). On the other hand, recent studies indicate that the μ -opioid receptor is not expressed in the microglia or astrocytes in the spinal dorsal horn (Corder et al., 2017; Kao et al., 2012). The other possible receptor that mediates glia activation is Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), which is expressed on microglia, but is inducible by inflammation also in astrocytes (Grace et al., 2015). Many opioids, including M3G, the metabolite of morphine, have been shown to possess TLR-4 signaling activity (Hutchinson et al., 2010).

Blockade or removal of TLR-4 has enhanced both morphine and oxycodone analgesia and diminished morphine tolerance (Eidson and Murphy, 2013; Hutchinson et al., 2012). Similarly with these, compared with the TLR-4 knock-out mice, only the wild-type exposed to M3G exhibited hyperalgesia (Due et al., 2012). The role of TLR-4 in pronociception and tolerance has also been argued, because its removal from the genome in mice failed to enhance opioid antinociception and attenuation of tolerance (Mattioli et al., 2014). In addition to direct mechanisms suggested, the opioid-induced activation of glia can arise via neuron-derived substances. Chronic morphine treatment promotes the expression of substance P and CGRP (Powell et al., 2000), both of which heighten glial cell activation (Reddington et al., 1995; Zhu et al., 2014).

Fractalkine is a product of neurons and astrocytes (Lindia et al., 2005), but its receptor is expressed in microglia (Verge et al., 2004). Suppression of fractalkine receptor has enhanced acute morphine analgesia and attenuated the development of tolerance and hyperalgesia (Johnston, 2004). Also of interest is that the effects of fractalkine may be, at least in part, IL-1-mediated, because fractalkine induces IL-1 release in the spinal cord, and co-administration of IL-1 receptor antagonist with morphine reverses hyperalgesia and prevents tolerance development (Johnston, 2004). Injection of fractalkine into periaqueductal gray has diminished the acute antinociceptive effect of opioid agonists (Chen et al., 2007). Sphingosine-1-phosphate is a product of ceramide metabolism. Microglia express both the S1P receptors and the enzyme sphingosine kinase1, which catalyses S1P upregulation (Nayak et al., 2010; Tham et al., 2003). Morphine has been demonstrated to upregulate S1P in the spinal cord, and inhibition of ceramide and S1P blocks development of tolerance and OIH while preventing the production of the cytokines TNF- α , interleukin-1 $\beta\alpha$, and interleukin-6 (Muscoli et al., 2010). Moreover, administering S1P to activated microglia in vitro has elevated TNF- α and NO production (Nayak et al., 2010). The effects of S1P probably are not, however, glia-exclusive as S1P has been shown also to affect neuronal cAMP synthesis in the dorsal horn (Coste et al., 2008). Moreover, purinergic transmission (including ATP) may be vital because inhibition of its receptors P2X4 (Horvath et al., 2010) and P2X7 (Zhou et al., 2010) in microglia has attenuated morphine tolerance.

The soluble mediators augment excitatory synaptic transmission, primarily by enhancing glutamate release or suppression of inhibitory synaptic transmission or both (Grace et al., 2014). The precise mechanisms include IL-1 β -evoked glutamate release from the primary afferents via activation of functionally coupled presynaptic IL-1 β and NMDA receptors (Yan and Weng, 2013), TNF α -induced release of glutamate from the primary afferents (Kawasaki et al., 2008), and TNF α -induced disinhibition of spinal synaptic transmission by reducing GABAergic neuron activity (Zhang et al., 2010). One important function of astrocytes especially is the uptake of glutamate from the synapses by GLAST and GLT-1 transporters (EAAT1 and 2 in humans) (Anderson and Swanson, 2000); their downregulation might also contribute to hyperalgesia (Weng et al., 2005).

The research regarding opioid-induced glia activation has focused mainly on the spinal cord, and multiple studies have demonstrated increased reactivity of microglial cells in the dorsal horn after morphine treatment (Cui et al., 2008.; Holdridge et al., 2007;

Mattioli et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2010b). The reactivity of supraspinal glia in chronic morphine treatment is less acknowledged, however.



Figure 8. The role of neuroinflammation in morphine tolerance and hyperalgesia. Adapted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: [Nat. Rev. Neurosci., Opioid and chemokine receptor crosstalk: a promising target for pain therapy? Mélik et al., 2015, Year of copyright 2015]

2.5 Diuretics used in the present study

Diuretics are drugs that promote the production of urine used in edematous diseases, hypertension, and heart failure. The literature suggests that the diuretics studied in this thesis, however, could exert antinociceptive effects in the rat via various mechanisms, including antagonism of mineralocorticoid receptor (Dong et al., 2012) and neuronal sodium-potassium-chloride cotransporter (Granados-Soto et al., 2005). In addition, spironolactone (Chu et al., 1978), furosemide (Chu et al., 1978), and chlorothiatzide (Poggioli et al., 1985) have also been suggested to potentiate the effects of the opioids via unknown mechanisms.

2.5.1 Spironolactone

After the discovery of aldosterone and its role in several edematous diseases, spironolactone was developed in the 1950s to antagonize the effect of aldosterone on mineralocorticoid receptors (Delyani, 2000). Spironolactone competes with aldosterone for binding to the mineralocorticoid receptor (MR) in the renal tubule, which decreases the retention of sodium and water and increases retention of potassium, but also in arterioles, where it antagonizes aldosterone-dependent vasoconstriction (Qavi et al., 2015; Roush and Sica, 2016). Clinically, spironolactone is used for such conditions as congestive heart failure and liver cirrhosis (Qavi et al., 2015).

In addition to its established indications, studies suggest that spironolactone can exert beneficial effects in experimental neuroinflammation and pain. Sun et al. (2012) showed that spironolactone attenuates pain behavior in a CCD model while inhibiting the immunoreactivity of microglia, decreasing the production of IL-1 β and TNF- α and depressing the expression and phosyphorylation of NMDA receptors. Supporting the hypothesis that spironolactone can diminish microglia reactivity, Tanaka et al. (1997) demonstrated that spironolactone inhibits corticosterone-induced activation of microglia in cells isolated from the forebrain of neonatal rats. Furthermore, spironolactone has decreased the concentration of TNF- α in the sciatic nerve and attenuated pain behavior in chronic constriction injury, but not in the vincristine-induced neuropathic model (Jaggi and Singh, 2010). In contrast, Wang et al. (2004) failed to detect any beneficial effect of spironolactone on pain behavior in a chronic constriction injury model. In addition to its own effects, spironolactone has been shown to enhance the analgesic effect of GR agonist dexamethasone in a CCD model in rats (Gu et al., 2011).

The study by Chu et al. (1978) indicates that a significant interaction can arise between spironolactone and an opioid, as co-administration of spironolactone and morphine in morphine-tolerant rats was demonstrated to be lethal. Spironolactone inhibits UGT2B7 (Knights et al., 2010), the enzyme responsible for the metabolism of morphine in humans, and could thus decrease the production of M3G, a potent glial activator (Hutchinson et al., 2010). Evidence also indicates that spironolactone might inhibit P-gp (Nakamura et al., 2001) and could affect the disposition of morphine (Schinkel et al., 1995; Xie et al., 1999) and oxycodone (Hassan et al., 2007).

2.5.2 Eplerenone

Eplerenone, like spironolactone, is a competetive mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist indicated for the treatment of hypertension and congestive heart failure (Muldowney et al., 2009). Eplerenone, however, possesses greater mineralocorticoid receptor specificity, and thus lacks the androgen-receptor and progesterone-receptor related side effects of spironolactone (Muldowney et al., 2009; Struthers et al., 2008).

MR and GR are expressed in various tissues and are often co-located in the same cell. The receptors can initiate both genomic and rapid, non-genomic responses via intracellular signaling pathways (Funder, 2012; Gomez-Sanchez and Gomez-Sanchez, 2014; Oakley and Cidlowski, 2013). Activation of MR can promote pro-inflammatory signaling that depresses the anti-inflammatory response of GR activation (Ibrahim et al., 2016). Indeed, eplerenone has been shown to reduce pain-related behavior and excitability of afferent neurons in a back-pain model in the rat (Dong et al., 2012; Ye et al., 2014). In addition, eplerenone has been shown to function in concert with glucocorticoid 6- α methylprednisolone reducing pain behavior in a low-back pain model (Ye et al., 2014).

Karst et al. demonstrated that MR mediated non-genomic effects of glutamate transmission in the hippocampal neurons within minutes (Karst et al., 2005). Hippocampus has been shown to affect acute pain processing in the rats (Ford et al., 2011), rendering the hippocampal MRs a possible site of action for eplerenone-induced antinociception.

2.5.3 Furosemide

Furosemide is a potent diuretic that inhibits the sodium-potassium-chloride symporter (NKCC) in the loop of Henle in the kidneys (Hannaert et al., 2002). Granados-Soto et al. showed that both centrally and peripherally administered furosemide along with another NKCC blocker bumetanide reduced pain behavior in a formalin-induced inflammation model in the rat (Granados-Soto et al., 2005). In accordance, bumetanide has reduced pain behavior in rats following spinal cord injury (Hasbargen et al., 2010). In the study of Chu et al. furosemide restored the effect of morphine to attenuate characteristic turning behavior in brain-lesioned morphine-tolerant rats (Chu et al., 1978).

2.5.4 Chlorothiazide

Chlorothiazides are weak diuretics that inhibit reabsorption of sodium and chloride by acting on the sodium-chloride symporter in kidney tubules (Duarte and Cooper-DeHoff, 2010). A study by Poggioli suggested that chlorothiazides possess weak antinociceptive activity and that they would enhance the antinociceptive effect of morphine in the rat by an unknown mechanism (Poggioli et al., 1985). The expression of the thiazide-sensitive sodium-chloride-transporter is probably renal-specific (Gamba, 2009).

2.5.5 The molecular structure of the diuretics used in the present study

The molecular structures of the diuretics used in the present study are presented in Fig. 9. Spironolactone, eplerenone, furosemide, and chlorothiazide have molecular mass of 417, 414, 330, and 296 grams/moles and molecular formula of $C_{24}H_{32}O_4S$, $C_{24}H_{30}O_6$, $C_{12}H_{10}CIN_2O_5S$, and $C_7H_6CIN_3O_4S_2$, respectively.



Figure 9. Molecular structure of spironolactone (A), eplerenone (B), furosemide (C), and chlorothiazide (D).

2.6 Anticonvulsant used in the present study

2.6.1 Pregabalin

Pregabalin is a synthetic molecule with an indication in the treatment of epilepsy, neuropathic pain, and generalized anxiety disorder. Pregabalin is the first-line drug with the combined norepinephrine and serotonin reuptake Inhibitors in neuropathic pain (Dworkin et al., 2010; Finnerup et al., 2015). It is a successor to gabapentin, which has a similar mechanism of action, but has saturable, and thus, unpredictable, absorption

(Bockbrader et al., 2010b). Pregabalin is considered to exert its effects via binding to the $\alpha 2-\delta 1$ subunit of voltage-gated calcium channels (VGCC) (Field et al., 2006) (Fig. 10), which are widely distributed in the nervous system. Pregabalin also binds to subunit $\alpha 2-\delta 2$ (Z. Li et al., 2011), which has been hypothesized to be associated with the adverse effects (McDonough, 2012). The precise role of the $\alpha 2-\delta$ subunit in the VGCC has not yet been elucidated, although the evidence suggests that it regulates the expression of the VGCC in the plasma membrane (Dolphin, 2016). Inhibition of the VGCC depresses presynaptic calcium influx and reduces the release of neuromediators, including glutamate, substance P, and CGRP (Fehrenbacher et al., 2003; Fink et al., 2002). Other suggested mechanisms of action for pregabalin include decrease of synaptic transmission by modulation of K_{ATP} channels and increasing trafficking of glutamate transporter EAAT3 to post-synaptic cell membranes (Verma et al., 2014). Pregabalin is not active at opioid receptors (Pfizer, n.d._a), and although it is a GABA -analog in its chemical structure, it is inactive at GABA_A and GABA_B receptors (Taylor et al., 2007).

As an accompanying drug, gabapentinoids have enhanced the antinociceptive effects of opioids in acute nociceptive thermal tests (Meymandi et al., 2006; Shimoyama et al., 1997) and in neuropathic pain (Christoph et al., 2011) in rats. In addition, gabapentinoids have reduced the consumption of opioids in humans in experimental nociceptive pain in healthy volunteers (Eckhardt et al., 2000) and in postoperative pain (Clarke et al., 2009; Tiippana et al., 2007; Yücel et al., 2011.).

In clinical use, pregabalin is generally well-tolerated. Its use is not associated with serious adverse effects, but individuals starting pregabalin can experience transient adverse effects related to coordination and cognition in a dose-response dependent manner (Gajraj, 2007; Zaccara et al., 2011). Pregabalin can, however, cause euphoria, which has raised concern about its misuse and abuse (Schifano, 2014). A history of opioid abuse is a particular risk factor for pregabalin abuse (Evoy et al., 2017). A recent study showed

that pregabalin was involved in a great proportion of deceased opioid abusers in postmortem toxicology analysis (Häkkinen, 2014). The mechanism of the potentially lethal interaction remains, however, unknown. In the preclinical studies, LD₅₀ of per oral pregabalin in the rat could not be determined even with the highest employed test dose (5000 mg/kg) (Pfizer, n.d._b), and very few case studies (Spiller et al., 2008) regarding pregabalin-only overdose have been reported in the literature. Interestingly, in the work of Gilron et al. (2003) gabapentin had blocked and reversed the tolerance to the antinociceptive effect of morphine. Whether pregabalin prevents or reverses the development of opioid tolerance in individuals abusing opioids remains obscure.



Figure 10. Schematic diagram of voltage-gated calcium channel and Pregabalin binding site. Adapted from Pharmaceuticals 2013, Voltage-Gated Calcium Channel Antagonists and Traumatic Brain Injury, Gurkoff et al, distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/).

2.6.2. Molecular structure of pregabalin

The molecular structure of pregabalin is presented in Fig. 11. Pregabalin has molecular mass of 159 grams/moles and molecular formula of $C_8H_{17}NO_2$.





Table 2. Pharmacokinetic parameters of the studied diuretics, loperamide, and pregabalin. ⁽¹⁾(Brunton et al., 2011.) ⁽²⁾(Welling, 1986) ⁽³⁾(Maron and Leopold, 2008) ⁽⁴⁾(Baker, 2007) ⁽⁵⁾(Prandota and Witkowska, 1976) ⁽⁶⁾(Pichette and Souich, 1996) ⁽⁷⁾(Sica, 2005) ⁽⁸⁾(Cook et al., 2002).

Drug	Target protein	Bound in plasma (%)	Bioavailability (%)	Urinary excretion (%)	Metbolism
Spironolactone	Mineralocorticoid-, androgen-, and progesteron receptor	>90 (1)	80-90 ⁽⁷⁾	<1 (p.o. dose) ⁽¹⁾	Extensive metabolism: deacetylation, dethiolation, and thiomethylation ^(1,3)
Eplerenone	Mineralocorticoid receptor	33-60 ⁽¹⁾	67 ⁽³⁾	7 (p.o. dose) ⁽¹⁾	Extensive metabolism: 6beta- and/or 21-hydroxylation and 3- keto reduction. Enzyme involved CYP3A4. ^(3,7,8)
Furosemide	Na-K-2Cl co-transporter (NKCC2)	99 ⁽¹⁾	71 (1)	30-50 (p.o. dose) ⁽⁵⁾	Poorly understood, metabolism probabaly at kidney ⁽⁶⁾
Chlorothiatzide	Na(+)-Cl(-) cotransporter	70 (2)	15-30 ⁽¹⁾	almost entirely ⁽²⁾	-
Loperamide	Opioid receptors	97 ⁽⁴⁾	0.3 (4)	2-10 (4)	Extensive metabolism: enzymes involved CYP2C8 and CYP3A4 ⁽⁴⁾
Pregabalin	α2-δ subunit of voltage- gated calcium channels	0 (1)	>90 (1)	almost entirely ⁽¹⁾	-

3. Aims of the study

Drugs that modulate opioid-induced analgesia can be beneficial adjuvants in the treatment of pain. On the other hand, morphine modulates its own analgesic effect by tolerance and opioid-induced hyperalgesia, which can complicate opioid treatment. Therefore, we aimed to study drugs that could potentiate the effects of the opioids and prevent/reverse opioid tolerance, and also to assess the role of neuroinflammation in chronic morphine treatment using the rat as a model organism. Specific aims in this thesis were as follows:

- To clarify potential pharmacological interaction between the diuretics spironolactone, eplerenone, furosemide, and chlorothiazide and the opioids oxycodone and morphine in thermal tests of acute nociception.
- II. To characterize effects of the anticonvulsant pregabalin on the antinociceptive and sedative effects of oxycodone and morphine in thermal tests of acute nociception and coordination test and also to exclude pharmacokinetic interactions between the drugs in the brain using concentration measurements.
- III. To assess glial reactivity in the spinal and supraspinal structures in morphine tolerance using immunohistochemistry, flow cytometry, and transcriptomics.

53

4. Materials and methods

4.1 Materials

4.1.1 Animals

Male Sprague–Dawley rats (Scanbur, Sollentuna, Sweden, Harlan, Horst, Netherlands) were used. The rats weighed 200-300 g at the beginning of the experiments. They were accommodated in groups of four in transparent cages in light- and temperature-controlled rooms. Water and standard laboratory chow were available ad libitum. The rats were habituated to the testing conditions for 3 days before the experiments. The animals were euthanized by decapitation or intracardiac perfusion in deep anesthesia. The National Animal Experiment Board of Finland approved the study protocols.

4.1.2 Drugs

Morphine hydrochloride, oxycodone hydrochloride trihydrate solution (Oxanest[®], Leiras Takeda, Helsinki, Finland), furosemide (Furesis[®], Orion Pharma, Espoo, Finland), eplerenone (Inspra[®], Pfizer, New York City, NY, USA) and pregabalin capsules (Lyrica[®], Pfizer, New York City, NY, USA) were purchased from the University Pharmacy (Helsinki, Finland). Spironolactone, loperamide, and chlorothiazide were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA).

Morphine hydrochloride was dissolved and oxycodone hydrochloride trihydrate and furosemide diluted in physiological saline. Spironolactone and chlorothiazide were diluted with 4% polysorbate 80 (Tween[®] 80, University Pharmacy, Helsinki, Finland) and loperamide with 2% polysorbate 80 in physiological saline. Pregabalin was dissolved in

0.5% methylcellulose (University Pharmacy, Helsinki, Finland) in physiological saline. Eplerenone tablets were mechanically pulverized and dissolved in 4% v/v Tween[®] 80 in physiological saline.The injection volumes and routes of administration were 2 mL/kg subcutaneously and 5 mL/kg intraperitoneally.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Model of postoperative pain

The rats were deeply anesthetized using isoflurane and a short longitudinal incision with a sharp scalpel was made through the skin, fascia, and muscle of the plantar side of the hind paw, as previously described by Brennan et al. (Brennan et al., 1996). The inflicted wound was sutured with two absorbable knob sutures, and the animal was allowed to recover one day before the behavioral experiments. The wound on the paw was carefully observed during the study for signs of infection, which would have been an exclusion criterion.

4.2.2 Measurement of acute nociception

Tail-flick latencies (Studies I-IV) were assessed using a tail-flick apparatus (Ugo Basile 37360, Comerio, Italy). In the test, the rats were restrained in plastic tubes. At each time point, three different sites of the middle third of the tail were exposed to radiant light. A flick of the tail automatically stopped the timer of the apparatus and the mean of the results was calculated. The cut-off was set at 10 s to avoid tissue damage. When an individual measurement reached the cut-off, no further tests were performed for that particular time point on that animal.

Hot plate tests (Studies I-III) were performed with a Harvard Apparatus Ltd. hot plate device (Edenbridge, Kent, UK). In the test, the rat was put inside a transparent circular cage on the hot plate ($52 \pm 0.2^{\circ}$ C). Licking or stomping the hind paw was considered as a sign of thermal nociception. Latency to the first sign was measured, after which the animal was instantly removed from the hot plate. To avoid tissue damage, the cut-off was set at 60 s.

Mechanical thresholds were assessed using either the Ugo Basile 37450 Dynamic Plantar Aesthesiometer (DPA) (Comerio, Italy) (Study IV) or the Imada DPS-1 digital force gauge (Northbrook, IL, USA) (Study II). When using DPA, the rats were placed on a metal mesh in plastic cages and habituated for 10 min before testing. A dull metal monofilament with a diameter of 0.5 mm was applied perpendicularly to the middle of the hind paw. The pressure was gradually increased until a rapid withdrawal or shaking of the paw occurred. The filament withdrew rapidly after the reaction and the apparatus stored the threshold of the force needed to cause the motor reaction. A 40-g cut-off was used. When using the force gauge in the model of postoperative pain, the rats were placed on a metal mesh covered with a transparent cage to settle down for 2 min. Skin 2 mm proximal to the wound was gently touched with a metallic monofilament with a diameter of 0.3 mm when the animal was sitting on its four limbs. The force of the filament against the skin was steadily increased until the nociceptive behavior, either rapid withdrawal or brisk shaking, occurred. A cut-off of 50 g was used to allow the animal to withdraw the paw from the filament effortlessly.

Cold thresholds (Study IV) were measured with the Bioseb T2CT Cold/Hot plate apparatus (Vitrolles, France) as adapted from Allchorne et al (Allchorne et al., 2005). The temperature of the plate was set to 0°C, which was kept constant during the measurements. The rat was set free onto the apparatus plate in a transparent cage. The

latency to the first stomp or lift of the hind paw was recorded. Lift of the paw that was involved in coordinated movement of all four limbs was excluded. A cut-off of 180 s was used.

4.2.3 Assessment of motor functions

The rotarod test was performed using a rotarod apparatus (Ugo Basile 47700, Comerio, Italy) (Study III). The test measures motor performance. The time that the rat stayed on a rubber-coated rod that was rotating at a fixed speed of 20 rpm was measured. The cut-off limit was set at 30 s.

4.2.4 Determination of drug concentration

The non-perfused whole-brain and liver samples were snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen. The arterial blood samples gathered in decapitation were allowed to coagulate at room temperature for 60 min and centrifuged at 4900 g for 20 min at 23°C. (Studies I-III). The determinations of morphine (Studies I-III), M3G (Studies I-III), M6G (Study I), normorphine (Study I), oxycodone (Studies II and III), noroxycodone (Studies II and III), oxymorphone (Studies II and III), and pregabalin (Study III) were performed using an Agilent 1100 series HPLC system (Agilent Technologies, Waldbronn, Germany) coupled with API 3000 tandem mass spectrometry (AB Sciex, Toronto, ON, Canada) that operated in a positive turbo ion spray mode. Before the analysis, spiked calibration standards and quality control samples were prepared in rat brain tissue homogenates for all the treatment compounds at appropriate concentrations that ranged from 1.0 to 2250 ng/mL (Study II). The LC-MS/MS analyses of morphine, M3G, and pregabalin were carried out separately as previously described (Dominguez-Ramirez et al., 2006; Oertel et al., 2009) with some modifications.

The chromatographic separations were achieved on an Atlantis HILIC Silica column (3- μ m particle size, 100 mm × 2.1 mm I.D., Waters, Milford, MA, USA) using a gradient elution of mobile phase consisting of acetonitrile and 10 mmol/L ammonium formate in 0.2% formic acid (v/v). Oxycodone served as an internal standard for morphine and M3G, and the limit of quantification was 1.0 ng/mL for both analytes (Studies I-III). Gabapentin was used as an internal standard for pregabalin analysis (Study II). The determination of oxycodone and its metabolites was performed as previously described (Neuvonen and Neuvonen, 2008). The limit of guantification for oxycodone, noroxycodone, and oxymorphine was 1.0 ng/mL (study III). The detection limit for oxycodone and its metabolites was 5 ng/g in brain tissue (Study II). The following ion transitions were monitored (Study I): morphine, m/z 286 to m/z 152; M3G and M6G, m/z 462 to m/z 286; normorphine, m/z 272 to m/z 152; oxycodone, m/z 316 to m/z 241, and the limit of quantification for morphine and M3G was 1.0 ng/mL. A signal-to-noise ratio of 20:1 was used as the limit of detection for normorphine, and the quantities were given in arbitrary units relative to the ratio of the peak area of the normorphine to that of the internal standard (Study I). The detection limit of oxycodone and its metabolites was 5 ng/g in brain tissue (Study II). The day-to-day coefficients of variations for all the methods described were below 15% for the concentrations of all analytes. Original protocol kindly provided by M.Sc. Jouko Laitila.

4.2.5 Immunohistochemical staining

Animals were deeply anesthetized using isoflurane and perfused intracardially with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) (Study IV). Collected tissues were fixed with 4% PFA overnight and embedded in paraffin (Study IV). Sections of 10 μ m were prepared from the selected regions of the brain and lumbar regions of the spinal cords. Sections were probed with antibodies for Iba1 (1:1000, Cat N 019-

19741, Wako, Richmond, VA, USA), GFAP (1:400, Cat G-3893, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), CGRP (1:10,000, Cat. No. T-4032, Peninsula Laboratories, San Carlos, CA, USA), or substance P (1:10,000, Cat. No. T-4107,Peninsula Laboratories). Bound antibodies were visualized using anti-rabbit and anti-mouse biotinylated secondary antibodies and the VECTASTAIN ABC HRP Kit (Cat PK-6101, PK-4002 Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA) as described by the kit manufacturer. Slides were imaged using the 3DHISTECH Scanner (3DHISTECH Ltd, Budapest, Hungary). Scanned images were analyzed with Matlab R2014b software (Mathworks, Natick, MA, USA). The number of Iba1 or GFAP-positive cells was quantified using manually set size and intensity thresholds as described by Penttinen et al (Penttinen et al., 2016). Original protocol kindly provided by Dr. Yulia Sidorova.

4.2.6. Flow cytometry

Animals were deeply anesthetized using isoflurane and perfused intracardially with 100 ml of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). The L4-L6 segments of the spinal cord, medulla, and primary somatosensory cortex were dissected. Dissected tissues were weighed, cut into tiny pieces, and gently homogenized through 70-µm cell strainers (Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) in PBS/1% FBS. Single-cell suspensions prepared from ~25 mg of tissue per sample were blocked with 5% normal rat serum, and stained with a co-use of anti-rat markers, including Granulocyte-FITC (clone HIS48, eBioscience, San Diego, CA, USA), CD172a-PE (clone OX41, BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA), MHCII-PerCP-eFluor 710 (clone OX17, eBioscience), and CD11b/c-eFluor 660 (clone OX42, eBioscience) with light protection at 4°C for a 60-min continuous rotation. The cells were washed and resuspended in 2 mL of PBS/1% FBS/0.02% NaN₃ buffer, and acquired on a 2-laser, 6-color Gallios cytometer (Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA, USA) under a live gate of CD11b/c⁺. Kaluza flow analysis 1.3 software (Beckman Coulter) was used to analyze the flow

cytometry data. Microglia were defined as CD11b/c⁺granulocyte⁻ total, MHCII⁺, and CD172a⁺ subtypes. Original protocol kindly provided by Dr. Zhilin Li.

4.2.7 Microglia RNA isolation (CD11b-positive cells)

Rats were perfused intracardially with 200 mL of 0.9% saline solution, and a L1-L6 spinal lumbar segment was collected for the isolation of CD11b-immunopositive microglia/macrophages by magnetic-activated cell sorting (MACS). The collected tissue was dissociated using a Neural tissue dissociation kit (T) (Miltenyi Biotec, San Diego, CA, USA; cat# 130-093-231) and the gentleMACS Dissociator (Miltenyi Biotec). After the dissociation process, the cells were suspended in 0.5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in PBS and incubated with Myelin Removal Beads II (Miltenyi Biotec; cat# 130-096-733; 1:10 dilution) for 15 min at 4°C. After the incubation, the cells were washed once and resuspended in 0.5% BSA in PBS and filtered through an LS column (Miltenyi Biotec; cat# 130-042-401) using a QuadroMACS Separator (Miltenyi Biotec). The total effluent was gathered and resuspended in 0.5% BSA with 2 mM EDTA in PBS. The cells were incubated with mouse anti-CD11b:FITC antibody (AbD Serotec, Puchheim, Germany; Cat# MCA275FB; 1:10 dilution) at 4°C for 10 min. The cells were then washed, resuspended in 0.5% BSA with 2 mM EDTA in PBS, and incubated with anti-FITC MicroBeads (Miltenyi Biotec; cat# 130-048-701; 1:10 dilution) for 15 min at 4°C. The cells were washed and resuspended in 0.5% BSA with 2 mM EDTA in PBS. The cell suspension was placed on an LS column, put on a QuadroMACS Separator, and the anti-CD11b-labeled cells were collected from the column. RNA was extracted with Trizol reagent and alcoholprecipitated in the presence of glycogen and treated with DNase (#1906, Ambion). Original protocol kindly provided by M.Sc. Jenni Anttila, Dr. Kert Mätlik, and Dr. Mikko Airavaara.

60

4.2.8 RNA sequencing

Altogether 30 ng of total RNA was first subjected to rRNA and mitochondrial rRNA removal using a RiboGone Mammalian kit (Clonetech, Mountain View, CA, USA) and then used as a starting material for RNA-Seq. Indexed cDNA libraries from 200 pg of the ribosomal/mitochondrial RNA-depleted RNA were generated using a SMARTer[®] Stranded RNA-Seq Kit (Clonetech). Strand-specific sequencing data from the synthesized cDNA was obtained from the Illumina next-generation sequencing system. NextSeq High SE 1x75 bp run was utilized.

Initial quality control on sequenced reads was performed with FastQC v0.11.3. Based on the quality reports, Illumina adapters were removed by Trimmomatic v0.33 and the read files were preprocessed as follows: reads with the first 5 bases were trimmed from the start of the read. Base quality scores less than 30 were trimmed from the 5' end. Reads of length less than 20 bases were excluded. When samples had less than 70% of reads surviving trimming, they were discarded from the analysis.

The processed reads were mapped (reference genome Rat Ensembl5) with Tophat v2.1.0. Up to 2 mismatches were allowed (both in the initial read and the segmented read alignment), and enforcing rules for first-strand synthesis library type were used. The mapped reads were then quantified in Fragments Per Kilobase of transcript per Million mapped reads (FPKM) with Cufflinks v2.2.1. Multiple read correction and upper-quartile normalization were used. Differential expression analysis was executed on a gene level using CuffDiff v2.2.1 with multiple read corrections. Original protocols kindly provided by Functional Genomics Units, Biomedicum Helsinki and Dr. Katherine Icay.

61

4.2.9 Experimental design

The design of the experimental settings of the individual studies is described in brief in Table 3 and in detail in the original publications.

Table 3. Experimental design.

Research question	Experimental setting	Method					
Study I							
Acute effect of spironolactone on morphine- induced antinociception and concomitant concentrations of morphine and its metabolites in brain, serum, and liver	Administration of one or two injections of spironolactone (50 mg/kg, i.p.) with morphine (4 mg/kg, s.c.)	Hot plate, Tail-flick and Liquid chromatography—mass spectrometry					
Effect of chronic spironolactone on morphine-induced antinociception in morphine-naive rats and effect of acute spironolactone on morphine-induced antinociception in morphine-tolerant rats. Effects of spironolactone on development of morphine tolerance	Combined treatment of morphine and spironolactone	Hot plate and Tail-flick					
Acute effect of spironolactone on the antinociceptive effect of loperamide	Administration of loperamide (10 mg/kg, s.c.) with two injections of spironolactone (50 mg/kg, i.p.)	Hot plate and Tail-flick					
Study II							
Acute antinociceptive effect of spironolactone, eplerenone, furosemide, and chlorothiazide individually and with oxycodone and morphine	Administration of spironolactone (100 mg/kg, i.p.), eplerenone (100 mg/kg, i.p.), furosemide (100 mg/kg, i.p.), and chlorothiazide (50 mg/kg,	Hot plate, Tail-flick					
Concentrations of oxycodone, morphine, and their metabolites when spironolactone is present	s.c.) with and without oxycodone (0.75 mg/kg, s.c.) or morphine (3 mg/kg, s.c.)	Hot plate, Tail-flick, Liquid chromatography- mass spectrometry					
Antinociceptive effect of spironolactone or eplerenone on postoperative pain	Administration of spironolactone (100 mg/kg, i.p.) or eplerenone (100 mg/kg i.p.) one or two days after a rat model of postoperative pain	Mechanical gauge test					
Study III							
Effect of pregabalin on oxycodone- and	Administration of pregabalin (50 mg/kg, i.p.) with oxycodone (0.6 mg/kg, s.c.) and morphine (2.5 mg/kg, s.c.)	Hot plate, Tail-flick, and rotatod					
sedation	Administration of smaller dose of pregabalin (10 mg/kg, i.p.) before the oxycodone and morphine	Hot plate and Tail-flick					
Concentrations of oxycodone, morphine, their metabolites, and pregabalin in brain when oxycodone or morphine is co- administered with pregabalin	Morphine (2.5 mg/kg, s.c.) and oxycodone (0.6 mg/kg, s.c.) co-administered with pregabalin (50 mg/kg, i.p.)	Hot plate, Tail-flick, and Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry					
Effect of pregabalin on the development of morphine tolerance and the acute effect of pregabalin on morphine-tolerant rats	Combined treatment of pregabalin and	Hot plate, Tail-Flick					
Evaluation of possible cross-tolerance between morphine and pregabalin	norbune	Hot plate					

Study IV

Development of tolerance to the antinociceptive effect of morphine and opioid-induced hyperalgesia	Administration of morphine b.i.d. for 14 days	Hot plate, Cold Plate, Dynamic Plantar Aesthesiometer
Effect of chronic morphine treatment on microglia and astrocyte reactivity in spinal cord and brain		Immunohistochemistry, flow cytometry
Effect of chronic morphine treatment on microglia transcriptome in the spinal cord		Transcriptomics

4.3 Statistical analyses

The results of the hot plate test are expressed as percentage of the maximum possible effect (MPE%), calculated as MPE% = [(post-drug latency – baseline latency)/(cut-off time – baseline latency)] × 100%. The results of the tail-flick test are expressed either in MPE% (Studies I-III) or latency in seconds (Study IV). The results of the cold plate test are expressed in latency in seconds (Study IV). The rotarod test results are expressed as the percentage change from the baseline values (Study II). The results of the DPA (Study IV) and mechanical gauge (Study II) are expressed as threshold in grams. In the text and figures, results are presented as mean of the sample values (+SEM when applicable) with minimum-maximum values (when applicable) or with individual values.

The behavioral data were tested for significant differences in mean values by two-way analysis of variance followed by a Holm–Sidak correction for multiple comparisons (Studies I, II, IV), One-way analysis of variances followed by a multiple-comparisonadjusted Tukey *post hoc* analysis (Study III) or unpaired T-test with Welch's correction (Study IV). For the concentration data, one-way analysis for variance followed by the Holm–Sidak correction (Studies I, III) or two-way analysis of variance followed by a Holm–Sidak post hoc test with correction for multiple comparisons (Study III) was used. The immunohistochemistry data were tested for significant differences in mean values by two-way analysis of variance followed by a two-tailed Holm–Sidak correction for multiple comparisons or unpaired two-tailed T-test with Welch's correction (Study IV). The fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) data were tested for significant differences in mean values with unpaired two-tailed T-test with Welch's correction. The data were analyzed using GraphPad Prism, version 6.0 a-c for Mac OS X (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA). In the iPathway analysis (Study IV), the differential expression threshold for the transcript expression fold change was set at 0.5 (log2) and the false discovery rate adjusted *p*-value (q-value) at 0.05. The false discovery rate *p*-value correction was applied for GO-enrichment analysis and impacted phenotype analysis. The difference was considered significant at p < 0.05 (or q < 0.05 in Study IV) in all of the tests.

5. RESULTS

Studies I and II

5.1 Individual antinociceptive effect of spironolactone, eplerenone, furosemide, and chlorothiazide

None of the studied diuretics (spironolactone 50 mg/kg or 100 mg/kg i.p., eplerenone 100 mg/kg i.p., furosemide 100 mg/kg i.p., or chlorothiazide 50 mg/kg, i.p.) had antinociceptive effects in either the hot plate or tail-flick tests (Study I: Fig. 1 and Study III: Fig. 1 and Table 1).

5.2 Antinociceptive effect of spironolactone, eplerenone, furosemide, and chlorothiazide in co-administration with oxycodone and morphine

Spironolactone co-administration (50 mg/kg i.p.) enhanced the antinociceptive effect of morphine 2.5 mg/kg and 5 mg/kg s.c. in naïve rats (Study I: Fig. 1) and 4 mg/kg in tolerant rats (Study I: Fig. 2) in the thermal tests. Spironolactone also enhanced the antinociceptive effect of oxycodone 0.75 mg/kg s.c. in naïve rats in the thermal tests, whereas furosemide caused only a negligible effect in the hot plate test when combined with morphine (Study II: Fig. 1 and Table 1). Eplerenone and chlorothiazide did not enhance the antinociceptive effect of either of the opioids in the thermal tests (Study II: Table 1).

5.3 Spironolactone increases the morphine brain concentration and inhibits the elimination of morphine

When spironolactone (50 mg/kg i.p.) was administered both 60 min and 0 min prior to morphine 4 mg/kg s.c., the antinociceptive effect of morphine was increased significantly in the hot plate at 30 min and 90 min time points (Fig. 12A), (Study I: Results). Concurrently, in the brain the morphine concentration was greatly elevated (Fig 12B). In spironolactone co-treatment, the morphine serum concentrations were elevated only in the 90 min time point (Fig. 12C), however. In the liver, the morphine concentrations were elevated at both time points (Fig. 12D). The concentrations of the main metabolite of morphine, M3G, in the liver did not decrease at the 30 min time point, but increased at the 90 min time point in the spironolactone co-treatment (Study I: Fig. 3). In addition, spironolactone co-treatment significantly decreased CYP3A produced normorphine concentrations in the liver (Study I: Results).



Figure 12. Effect of spironolactone (50 mg/kg i.p.) on morphine (4 mg/kg s.c.) (MO4) antinociceptive effect in the hot plate test when spironolactone was administered 60 min and 0 min before (MO4+SPR50X2) morphine. The results expressed as the mean of the maximum possible effect (MPE%) including the individual values are plotted at 30 and 90 min after morphine administration (A). The corresponding brain (B), serum (C), and liver (D) morphine concentrations are presented as mean in addition to the individual values. *, **, *** Statistically significant difference (p < 0.05, 0.01, 0.001) between the treatment groups. ### Statistically significant difference (p < 0.001) when compared against the saline group (SAL). N = 6-10 at 30 min and 5 at 90 min time point.

5.4 Spironolactone increases oxycodone brain concentrations and inhibits elimination of oxycodone

Spironolactone 100 mg/kg i.p. administered 30 min before oxycodone 0.75 mg/kg increased the antinociceptive effect of oxycodone 68% and 50% MPE in the hot plate test at the 30 min and 90 min time points, respectively (Fig. 13A). In the brain, spironolactone increased the concentration of oxycodone 46% and 140%, respectively (Fig. 13B). Also, the concentrations of oxycodone in the liver and serum were increased at both time points (Fig. 13C-D).



Figure 13. Effects of spironolactone 100 mg/kg i.p., oxycodone 0.75 mg/kg s.c. (OXY 0.75), vehicle (VEH), and the combined effect of spironolactone with oxycodone (SPR100 + OXY 0.75) in the hot plate tests (A). The mean of the maximum possible effect (MPE%) including the individual values in the hot plate test are plotted at the 30 min and 90 min time points. The respective oxycodone concentration in brain (B), liver (C), and serum (D). #, ##, Statistically significant difference (p < 0.05, 0.01, respectively) as compared with the vehicle control. *, **, Statistically significant difference (p < 0.05, 0.01, respectively) between treatment groups. N = 5-15 in the behavioral test and 3-6 in the concentration measurements per group.

5.5 Loperamide shows antinociceptive effect when co-administered with spironolactone

Loperamide did not show any antinociceptive effect on its own in the thermal tests (Study I: Fig. 4). However, when spironolactone 50 mg/kg i.p. was administered 60 min and 0 min before loperamide 10 mg/kg s.c., loperamide demonstrated antinociceptive effects (Study I: Fig. 4).

5.6 Spironolactone does not prevent the development of morphine tolerance

Chronic spironolactone co-treatment (50 mg/kg i.p. b.i.d.) did not prevent the development of tolerance to the antinociceptive effect of morphine, when tested with morphine 4 mg/kg s.c. in the tail-flick and hot plate test. Chronic spironolactone pretreatment (50 mg/kg i.p. b.i.d., four days) did not cause changes in the acute antinociceptive effect of morphine 4 mg/kg in morphine-naïve rats in the thermal tests (Study II: Results).

5.7 Spironolactone and eplerenone do not have acute antinociceptive effects in a model of incision pain

After surgery, the threshold for mechanical hyperalgesia decreased approximately 40% on the first and 50% on the second postoperative day. Eplerenone 100 mg/kg i.p. was administered on the day after surgery and spironolactone 100 mg/kg i.p. on the second postoperative day (Study II: Fig. 3). There was no significant difference between the treatment and vehicle groups on either of the days at any time point in the mechanical threshold test (Study II: Fig. 3).

Study III

5.8 Pregabalin differentially potentiates the antinociceptive effect of oxycodone and morphine

Pregabalin (10 mg/kg or 50 mg/kg i.p.) alone did not produce significant antinociception in either the tail-flick or hot plate tests at the 30 min time point (Fig. 14A-H). At the 90 min time point, pregabalin 50 mg/kg caused a significant antinociceptive effect of 43% MPE in the hot plate test (Study III: Results). Pregabalin (50 mg/kg i.p.) increased the acute antinociceptive effect of oxycodone (0.6 mg/kg s.c.) in the hot plate test (Fig. 14A) but not tail-flick (Fig. 14B), and of morphine 2.5 mg/kg (s.c.) in the hot plate test (Fig. 14C) but not tail-flick (Fig. 14D). When pregabalin (10 mg/kg s.c.) was administered 30 min before the opioids, the effect of oxycodone (Fig. 14E, F) but not morphine (Fig. 14G, H) was potentiated in the hot plate and tail-flick test. In the rotarod test, pregabalin (50 mg/kg i.p.) alone did not significantly reduce the time that the rats stayed on the rod, but its combination with both oxycodone (Fig. 14I) and morphine (Fig. 14J) reduced the time significantly.


Figure 14. Effects of pregabalin 50 mg/kg i.p. (P50) or 10 mg/kg i.p. (P10), vehicle (VEH), oxycodone 0.6 mg/kg s.c. (OXY0.6), morphine 2.5 mg/kg s.c. (MO2.5), and the combined effect of either pregabalin 50 mg/kg i.p. or 10 mg/kg i.p. with oxycodone (OXY0.6+P50), (OXY0.6+P10) or morphine (MO2.5+P50), (MO2.5+P10), respectively, in the hot plate test (A, C, E, and G), tail-flick (B, D, F, and H), and the rotarod test (I and J), rotarod only P50. P50 was administered with the opioids and P10 was administered 30 min before the opioids. The means of the maximum possible effects (MPE%) or the latency from the baseline rotarod time (%) after 30 min of administration of the opioids are plotted with SEM. *#*, *##*, Statistically significant difference (p < 0.05, p < 0.01 respectively) as compared with the vehicle control. *, **, Statistically significant difference (p < 0.05, p < 0.01) as compared between the indicated groups. N = 10–16 rats per group.

5.9 Pregabalin does not have an effect on brain concentrations of oxycodone or morphine or vice versa

Pregabalin 50 mg/kg i.p. was administered 30 min before oxycodone 0.6 mg/kg s.c. Brain samples were collected immediately after the behavioral measurements at the 30 min time point. Pregabalin did not change the brain concentrations of oxycodone, noroxycodone, or oxymorphone; nor were the brain concentrations of pregabalin affected by co-administration of oxycodone (Study III, Fig. 3).

Pregabalin 50 mg/kg was administered with morphine 2.5 mg/kg s.c., and the thermal antinociceptive tests were performed 90 min later (Study III: Results). The brain samples were collected after the behavioral measurements. The brain concentrations of morphine, M3G, or pregabalin were not affected by co-administration of pregabalin and morphine (Study III, Figure 3).

5.10 Pregabalin does not prevent morphine tolerance

Co-administration of pregabalin 50 mg/kg s.c. with morphine during the tolerance treatment did not affect the development of morphine tolerance (Study III, Fig. 4). In morphine-tolerant animals, pregabalin 50 mg/kg s.c. did not potentiate the antinociceptive effect of acute morphine 5 mg/kg s.c., as measured by the hot plate test at the 30 min time point (Study III, Fig. 4). In addition, the effect of acute pregabalin 50 mg/kg was assessed in both morphine-naïve and -tolerant rats to study potential cross-tolerance between morphine and pregabalin. However, prior morphine treatment did not affect the hot plate test latencies induced by acute pregabalin treatment at 120 min.

Study IV

5.11 Chronic morphine treatment induces tolerance and hyperalgesia

Morphine 10 mg/kg s.c. administered b.i.d. induced tolerance to the antinociceptive effect of morphine in 10 days in the tail-flick test (Fig. 15A). Opioid-induced hyperalgesia was detected in both the cold plate and DPA tests during the morphine treatment (Study IV: Fig. 2).

5.12 Chronic morphine increases microglial reactivity in the spinal cord but not in the brain

Chronic morphine treatment induced a 32-33% and 22-24% increase in microglial immunoreactivity in the dorsal horn and ventral horn of the spinal cord, respectively (Fig. 15B-C). Also, immunoreactivity of substance P and CGRP in the dorsal horn was

increased (Study IV: Fig. 5). However, the treatment did not change the immunoreactivity of astrocytes in the dorsal horn (Study IV: Fig. 4). In flow cytometry, the proportion of M2-polarized (anti-inflammatory) microglia was increased (Study IV: Fig. 7). However, in the brain no increase in microglia or astrocyte reactivity after chronic morphine treatment was detected (Fig. 15D-E).



Results

Figure 15. Mean effects of morphine in the tail-flick (A) tests in minimum-maximum-value-box. The rats were administered morphine 10 mg/kg s.c. or saline twice daily for 14 days. The tail-flick test was performed at baseline at day (d#) 1, 12 hours after the latest morphine injections from the previous day at d#7, 10, and 13, and one hour after the morphine injection at d#1, 7, 10, and 13. The samples for immunoreactivity tests were gathered at d#14. The mean+SEM of the IBA1 (B-C) immunoreactivity in the spinal cord and IBA1 (D) and GFAP (E) immunoreactivity in the brain. *, **, *** Statistically significant difference (p < 0.05, 0.01, 0.001 respectively) as compared with indicated groups. N = 14-15 rats per group, except in immunohistochemistry group, where n = 4-5 rats per group.

5.13 Chronic morphine treatment induces transcriptional changes in spinal microglia

Altogether 2454 differentially expressed genes were detected after chronic morphine treatment in spinal microglial. Gene ontology enrichment analysis showed that genes in biological processes, including 'immune system' and 'response to stress', were enriched. Also, genes related to chronic pain in previous studies, like in the DAP12 pathway, were upregulated. Other significantly upregulated individual genes included *Kcnn4*, *Fkbp5*, *Fcqr1a*, and *Cd244* (Study IV: Results).

6. DISCUSSION

6.1 Pharmacokinetic interaction between diuretics and morphine or oxycodone

Studies I and II demonstrated that the diuretics spironolactone, eplerenone, furosemide, and chlorothiazide lacked acute antinociceptive effects of their own in the thermal tests. Spironolactone, but not eplerenone, however, potentiated the antinociceptive effect of oxycodone and morphine, and spironolactone concomitantly increased the brain concentrations of both opioids. The results indicate that the increased antinociception in Studies I and II is due to the evident increase in opioid concentrations in the brain when spironolactone is co-administered.

Both oxycodone and morphine are eliminated mostly in the liver by metabolism. In humans, UGT2B7 (2b1 in rat) metabolizes approximately 50% of the morphine dose to M3G and 10% to M6G (Andersen et al., 2003), while the rat forms no M6G (Kuo et al., 1991). In a parallel route, a minor fraction of morphine is metabolized to normorphine by CYP3A4 (Andersen et al., 2003; Projean et al., 2003). The CYP3A also metabolizes oxycodone to its major metabolite noroxycodone, whereas parallel metabolism to oxymorphone via 2D6 is a less significant route (Lalovic et al., 2006). CYP3A metabolizes oxymorphone and 2D6 noroxycodone to noroxymorphone (Lalovic et al., 2004).

In Study I, spironolactone treatment did not decrease hepatic M3G concentrations, which indicates that spironolactone does not inhibit the major morphine metabolizing enzyme, UGT2b1. It, however, decreased hepatic concentrations of normorphine, suggesting that spironolactone might inhibit CYP3A, a significant metabolizing enzyme

of oxycodone. Interestingly, in Study I, spironolactone indeed decreased the concentration ratio of noroxycodone to oxycodone. Also, the concentrations of noroxymorphone were reduced, which could also be explained by spironolactone-induced inhibition of CYP3A metabolism.

The increased morphine serum concentrations are likely due to decreased excretion, as the metabolism of morphine was shown not to decrease in the experiment (Study I). However, the elevated serum concentrations alone were unlikely to cause the increased morphine brain concentration, as under spironolactone, the brain/serum ratio of morphine was elevated. Both morphine (Letrent et al., 1999; Xie et al., 1999) and spironolactone (T. Nakamura et al., 2001) are substrates for P-gp, a drug efflux transporter expressed in the BBB and peripheral tissues, including the liver and kidney. A plausible hypothesis for the presented results could be that spironolactone inhibits Pgp, which would cause both impaired efflux of morphine at the BBB but also reduction of elimination by decreasing excretion of morphine in bile and urine. Supporting this hypothesis, the results of this thesis demonstrated that the P-gp substrate loperamide exerted an antinociceptive effect only in co-administration with spironolactone. The finding implies that spironolactone increased brain distribution of the otherwise peripherally restricted loperamide, and thus, spironolactone was able to produce effective depression of P-gp function in the present study setting. The approach was, however, indirect and confirmation of the theory would require in vitro modeling of morphine transport in P-gp containing cells challenged with spironolactone. Loperamide is metabolized by CYP3A4 and 2C8 (Baker, 2007), and it is possible that spironolactone also increased its concentrations.

Unlike with morphine (Studies I and II), the increased oxycodone (Study II) concentrations in the serum could be explained by a spironolactone-induced decrease in metabolism. However, whether spironolactone-induced inhibition of the P-gp at the

BBB contributes to the increased oxycodone brain concentrations, like it probably did with morphine, is unclear. The brain/serum ratio of oxycodone was increased, but the literature remains controversial regarding whether oxycodone is a substrate of Pglycoprotein, see for; Hassan et al. (2007) and against; Boström et al. (2005). The hypothesis of P-gp inhibition would, however, explain the results of this thesis regarding the increased oxycodone brain disposition.

Both spironolactone and eplerenone are MR antagonists. Activation of MR can promote pro-inflammatory signaling, diminishing the GR-dependent anti-inflammatory activity (Ibrahim et al., 2016). Indeed, eplerenone has been shown to reduce pain-related behavior and excitability of afferent neurons in a back-pain model in the rat (Dong et al., 2012; Ye et al., 2014). In addition MR has been demonstrated to mediate rapid effects of glutamate transmission in hippocampal neurons (Karst et al., 2005). The hippocampus, on the other hand, affects acute pain processing in rats (Ford et al., 2011). It is therefore possible that spironolactone and eplerenone could have exerted an acute pharmacodynamic effect, which was not detected in both the model of postoperative pain (Study II) and acute thermal tests (Studies I and II). In the low back pain studies (Dong et al. 2012; Ye et al. 2014) pain behaviour was provoked by locally inflaming the L5 dorsal root ganglion. In the study by Dong et al., eplerenone decreased excitability of sensory neurons of inflamed but not uninflamed dorsal root ganglion. Therefore, it is possible that the antinociceptive effect of MR blocking can not be generalized to reduce pain with different underlying mechanisms. It must be noted, however, that brain or spinal concentrations of spironolactone were not measured in the acute coadministration experiments with opioids in Studies I and II. Therefore, the possibility of increased CNS concentration of spironolactone contributing to the increased antinociceptive latencies in the behavioral results cannot be fully excluded.

An important conclusion from the results is that an enhanced acute antinociceptive effect of opioids with spironolactone cannot be attributed to increased diuresis, as furosemide, a more potent diuretic than spironolactone, caused only a negligible antinociceptive effect with morphine. Moreover, the spironolactone-induced diuresis was beyond the timeframe of the acute study in this thesis, as the natriuretic effect of spironolactone begins 3-5 days after treatment (Yeung and Wong, 2002).

The clinical relevance of the demonstrated interaction between spironolactone and morphine or oxycodone remains elusive. Spironolactone and opioids could be co-used in conditions such as malignant ascites and cause heightened opioid brain concentrations and predispose to opioid adverse effects. On the other hand, the increased brain disposition of an opioid might also reduce the peripheral adverse effects. In the study of Heiskanen et al. P-gp inhibitor itraconatzole failed to increase the pharmacodynamic effect of morphine in humans, although the brain concentrations could not be assessed (Heiskanen et al., 2008). The effect of spironolactone on opioid pharmacokinetics should also be investigated in human volunteers.

6.2 Pharmacodynamic interaction between pregabalin and morphine or oxycodone

Study III demonstrated that acute administration of pregabalin potentiated both thermal antinociceptive and sedative effects of oxycodone and morphine. The measured changes in the brain concentrations of oxycodone, morphine, their major metabolites, and pregabalin failed to explain the antinociceptive results. In addition, pregabalin administration did not affect the development of morphine tolerance. The antinociceptive results are in agreement with clinical studies that have shown that coadministration of gabapentinoids has reduced the amount of opioids needed to alleviate experimental nociceptive pain in healthy volunteers (Eckhardt et al., 2000) and also postoperative pain (Clarke et al., 2009; Fassoulaki et al., 2012; Mahoori et al., 2014; Tiippana et al., 2007; Yücel et al., 2011.). Pregabalin is eliminated renally (Bockbrader et al., 2010a), but an interaction via the poorly understood drug transporters at the BBB level is possible. It seems that pharmacokinetic interactions between oxycodone, morphine, and pregabalin have not been previously studied. The unchanged brain concentrations of the studied drugs and their major metabolites after concomitant administration indicated, however, that the behavioral changes cannot be explained by altered brain disposition of the drugs. Thus, the results imply that the drug interaction between pregabalin and opioids at the CNS level is pharmacodynamic.

Pregabalin is considered to exert its analgesic effect via binding to the α 2- δ -1 subunit of voltage-gated calcium channels (VGCCs) (Field et al., 2006). VGCCs can be subdivided into low voltage-activated Cav 3.1-3.3 (T-) and high voltage-activated Cav 1.1-1.4 (L-), Cav 2.2 (N-), Cav 2.1 (P/Q-), and Cav 2.3 (R-types) (Dolphin, 2016). All of the high-voltage channels have been shown to be expressed in DRGs and the spinal cord (Lee, 2013) and to be associated with the α 2 δ subunit (Dolphin, 2016).

Opioids exhibit their inhibition of calcium currents via N- (2.2) and P/Q-type (2.1) channels (Bourinet et al., 1996; Seward et al., 1991), but presumably not via L-channels (1.1-1.4) (Rhim and Miller, 1994). Interestingly, in the study of Omote et al. a selective N-type calcium channel blocker ω -CgTx produced a synergistic interaction with morphine in nociceptive tests (Omote et al., 1996). Thus, it could be hypothesized that pregabalin exerts its interaction by inhibiting the same presynaptic calcium channels as opioids (N and/or P/Q), which ultimately leads to a synergistic decrease in the secretion of excitatory neurotransmitters. Surprisingly, also L-type calcium channel inhibitors verapamil, diltiazem, and nicardipine have been shown to have synergistic antinociceptive interaction with morphine (Omote et al., 1993). However, whether

Discussion

verapamil, diltiazem, and nicardipine actually exert their synergistic effect by selectively blocking the non-opioid-receptor-coupled L-channel could be argued, as verapamil has also been demonstrated to block P- and possibly N- and Q-channels (Dobrev et al., 1999), nicardipine N-type calcium channels (S. N. Li et al., 1999), and diltiazem P-type calcium channels (Dobrev et al., 1999). Diltiazem and verapamil are P-gp substrates and in the study of Shimizu et al potentiated the morphine-induced antinociception while not, however, markedly increasing the morphine brain concentrations (Shimizu et al., 2004). The role of pharmacokinetic interaction between morphine and the discussed calcium channel blockers cannot, however, be excluded from the mechanism behind the observed potentiation of analgesia. To summarize, it seems plausible that the potentiating effect of pregabalin on the opioids is mediated via inhibiting the common (N and/or P/Q) presynaptic calcium channels. However, interaction associated with Ltype channel inhibition is also possible.

Surprisingly, when pregabalin was administered before the opioids at a smaller dose, only the antinociceptive effect of oxycodone, not morphine, was potentiated. Therefore, it was hypothesized that the difference in the results between the opioids could be related to functional selectivity, i.e. different agonists elicit different downstream signaling despite binding to the same μ-opioid receptor. Although it has been shown that MOR can demonstrate functional selectivity to morphine and oxycodone (A. Nakamura et al., 2013), the specific intracellular pathway that could explain the discussed result in the present study remains unknown. Ca²⁺-dependent endocytosis is highly complex and varies in response to the array of unique stimulation patterns, for review, see Leitz and Kavalali (2016). Therefore, it seems possible that even subtle differences in MOR downstream signaling might explain the differences between opioids regarding the pharmacodynamic interactions with pregabalin.

82

In the meta-analysis of Tiippana et al. (2007) the figures for number-needed-to-harm (the number of patients needed to be treated to reveal a particular adverse effect) were relatively high, 35 and 12 for perioperative gabapentinoid to cause strong sedation or dizziness, respectively, in humans. Consistent with this, in the meta-analysis of Peng et al. (2007), the severity of dizziness caused by perioperative gabapentin was often classified as mild. By contrast, Jokela et al. (2008) reported an increased incidence of adverse effects, including dizziness, after perioperative pregabalin and oxycodone coadministration. In the present study, the amount of sedation, measured as the time that rats were able to stay on a rotating rod, in concomitant administration with opioid was greatly increased. The results could be interpreted so that, from pharmacological point of view, gabapentinoids and opioids predispose to increased sedation, as shown by this study. Whether such sedation is experienced postoperatively might be dependent on the factors related to a specific clinical setting, such as type of surgery or timing of the drug administration. On the other hand, discrepancy between the experienced sedation in the discussed studies might also be explained by differences in the sensitivity of the methods of measuring sedation. Besides the analgesic effect, it should be noted that the supraspinally mediated hot plate test used in the present study is also affected by sedation and the associated motor impairment. Therefore, the observed potentiation of the opioids in the hot plate test was probably not solely analgesic in nature.

In the postmortem toxicology study conducted in Finland in 2010-2011, 91% of pregabalin abusers also showed concomitant opioid use (Häkkinen, 2014). Hence, it was interesting also to determine whether the deaths could be attributed to the pharmacological interaction between pregabalin and opioids. Pregabalin did not, however, prevent the development or reverse morphine tolerance. Moreover, a synergistic effect on antinociception and sedation in morphine-tolerant animals was not detected. In contrast to the hypothesis, the results indicate that the combined use of pregabalin and an opioid does not predispose opioid-tolerant individuals to increased

effects of opioids. However, a limitation of the study was that respiratory depression measurements in chronic morphine administration was not performed. Moreover, the studies were performed with only one dose. It should also be noted that the mechanism of death is not necessarily related to respiratory depression, as both opioid receptors (Sobanski et al., 2014) and L-type calcium channels (Zhao et al., 2017) are known to regulate, for example, also myocardial function.

6.3 Chronic morphine treatment increases microglial reactivity

Study IV shows that chronic morphine treatment induced tolerance and hyperalgesia. Microglia immunoreactivity increased concomitantly at the spinal but not the supraspinal level. In flow cytometry, the proportion of anti-inflammatory spinal microglia was increased. Upregulation of many pain-related genes in the transcriptome of the spinal microglia after chronic morphine treatment were also detected.

The mechanism of the opioid-induced activation of microglia remains to be elucidated. Hutchinson et al first suggested that glial activation would be mediated via TLR4 signaling (Hutchinson et al., 2010) but the role of TLR4 signaling in opioid tolerance and OIH has also been challenged (Mattioli et al., 2014). Spinal microglia and astrocytes have been shown not to express MORs (Corder et al., 2017.; Kao et al., 2012). In the present study, chronic morphine treatment increased the immunoreactivity of substance P and CGRP in the dorsal horn, both of which have been reported to activate microglia (Reddington et al., 1995; Zhu et al., 2014). Therefore, the activation of spinal microglia in chronic morphine treatment might be related to an increase in neuron-derived peptides.

Chronic morphine treatment did not have an effect on spinal M1-polarized (proinflammatory) microglia, but it increased the proportion of M2-polarized (antiinflammatory) microglia of the total microglia. The result could be interpreted as transition to the resolution phase of the neuroinflammatory process or a sign of a process opposing the onset of inflammation. A reduction of microglia in the medulla and substantia nigra was also detected, but it is difficult to speculate about implications.

In the present study, immunoreactivity of microglia or astrocytes was not significantly changed after chronic morphine treatment in such brain regions as the nucleus accumbens, ventral posterolateral nucleus, central amygdala, ventral tegmental area, central gray, or rostroventral medulla. Other studies have demonstrated both increases and decreases in immunoreactivity of the glial cells in individual brain regions after chronic morphine treatment (Hutchinson et al., 2009). For example, Hutchinson et al. reported that the count of microglial cells was decreased in the nucleus accumbens, while (Hutchinson et al., 2009) it was increased in the work of Zhang et al (X.-Q. Zhang et al., 2012). The finding in this study implies that the pathophysiology of opioid tolerance or opioid-induced hyperalgesia is not dependent on microglia or astrocyte activation in the studied supraspinal structures.

The transcriptome of the spinal microglia revealed enrichment of genes in the sets related to the 'immune system process', 'response to stress catabolic process', and 'defense response'. In addition, individual genes including Kcnn4, Fkbp5, and members of the TREM2/DAP12-signaling pathway were upregulated. The calcium-activated potassium channel KCa3.1 (Kcnn4) is known to contribute to microglia activation via functional linkage to the intracellular p38 MAPK pathway, and many investigations have asserted that its blockade on glia attenuates neuroinflammation (Bouhy et al., 2011; Y.-J. Chen et al., 2016; Kaushal et al., 2007; Reich et al., 2005). Interestingly, several KCa3.1 blockers are also in clinical use, making KCa3.1 a feasible target for pharmacological intervention, for review, see Wulff and Castle (2010).

Fkbp5, a component of a steroid receptor complex, has been shown to have a significant role in pain regulation by modulating glucocorticoid signaling (Maiaru et al., 2016). Study of Maiaru et al. indicated that Fkbp5 was expressed exclusively in neurons of the superficial dorsal horn of the spinal cord, and thus, the role of Fkbp5 in microglia in morphine tolerance remains unknown. Interestingly, glucocorticoid signaling in microglia is suggested to govern the inflammatory state in inflamed CNS (Carrillo-de Sauvage et al., 2013). The TREM2/DAP12 signaling pathway is involved in cell activation and phagocytic activity, for review, see Xing et al. (2015). Kobyashi et al have demonstrated that TREM2/DAP12 signaling in microglia promotes proinflammatory phenotype and aggravates neuropathic pain. (Kobayashi et al., 2016). According to the present results, it possibly also facilitates nociception in opioid treatment.

6.4 Methodological and ethical considerations

Pain is a product of a very complicated biological system. Due to the inherent complexity of the phenomenon, no in vitro or in silico methods exist today to model the pain in humans. Behavioral animal models are therefore still necessary despite their shortcomings. Indeed, the murine behavioral models are known to be sensitive to laboratory factors, including the individual conducting the experiments, air humidity, diet, and environmental stress factors (Chesler et al., 2002; Vissers et al., 2003). For instance, the olfactory stimuli associated with exposure to male but not female experimenters has recently been shown to cause stress and antinociception in rodents (Sorge et al., 2014.). Internal factors of the animals, such as genotype, age and gender, can also affect the results (Vissers et al., 2003). Controlling all possibly relevant factors can be difficult, which explains some of the discrepancy in the preclinical results in the literature.

This thesis was limited by its utilization of male rats only. The gender of the animals used in preclinical research has received special attention. The literature regarding humans suggests, although the issue is complex, that women are more sensitive to pain than men (Mogil, 2012) and might also show significant qualitative differences to men in their pain physiology, such as in some aspects of the immune system related to pain modulation (Sorge et al., 2015). The majority of preclinical studies of pain have, however, been conducted in male rats (Mogil, 2012), which can cause bias and reduce the applicability of the preclinical results to women.

Ethical aspects are of particular importance when nociception is elicited in conscious animals. The Finnish act for the use of animals for scientific purposes is based on the implementation of the EU directive 2010/63/EU. Besides legislation, also the scientific community develops contemporary guidelines for ethical issues and to promote welfare of animals (Knopp et al., 2015). Interestingly, a preclinical trial register to tackle the significant problem of negative publication bias, which might be a leading cause of unnecessary use of animals, has also been recently discussed (Kontinen, 2015). This research was conducted in accordance with the guidelines of the local authorities and the International Association for the Study of Pain. The Three Rs principle of animal testing (replacement, reduction, and refinement) was considered in the design of the study settings. In the nociceptive behavioral tests, only the threshold of withdrawal was measured and the animals were allowed to discontinue the administration of the gradually increasing stimulus. The National Animal Experiment Board of Finland approved the study protocol.

An ideal behavioral animal model for nociception has been suggested to possess the following qualities: input specificity, validity, and sensitivity (Le Bars et al., 2001). The administered stimulus should be nociceptive (input specificity) and the measured behavioral sign should be a selective response to nociception (validity) (Le Bars et al.,

2001). The model should also be able to quantify the response and to discern the effect of possible pharmacological interventions (sensitivity) (Le Bars et al., 2001). In this thesis, frequently used behavioral tests were utilized, of which the heat tests (tail-flick and hot plate test) are validated tools in the study of opioid pharmacology, for review, see Le Bars et al. (2001). In the study of hyperalgesia, the cold plate in freely moving animals is reviewed by Allchorne et al. (2005) and the evaluation of mechanical hyperalgesia using methods similar to the mechanical gauge and dynamic plantar aesthesiometer is reviewed by Le Bars et al. (2001). All of the tests used are inherently prone to error due to potential non-specific responses, which could be related to, for example, learning in repeated measurements or drug-induced confounding effects. Interestingly, marked advances in the neuroimaging of pain (Morton et al., 2016) foster the hope that the problem of validity could be bypassed with functional imaging measuring the activation of pain-related brain regions directly. In this thesis, immunohistochemistry to measure glial reactivity, which necessitates the sacrificing of the animal, was employed. Noninvasive positron emission tomography imaging can, however, quantitatively measure glial activation (Imamoto et al., 2013) and may in the future replace less versatile immunohistochemical methods.

6.5 Future perspectives

The results of this thesis using the rat as a model organism, suggest that drug interactions can alter opioid brain concentrations and the possibility of increased opioid brain disposition should be acknowledged in clinical pharmacology. Although animal models are routinely used to predict pharmacokinetic behaviour of drugs in the human, interspecies differences of CYP-mediated metabolism and limited understanding of interspecies differences in drug transporters prevent direct extrapolation of the results (Chu et al., 2013; Martiqnoni et al., 2006). Therefore, further human studies are

Discussion

warranted. In clinical trials, the drug brain concentrations cannot be, however, measured directly, but surrogate methods like analysis of the cerebrospinal fluid might be used (Nagaya et al., 2014). Non-invasive pharmacokinetic measurement methods, including positron emission tomography (Gupta et al., 2002), should, however, be further developed. Interestingly, magnetic resonance imaging could be used in the future to detect the distribution of magnetically labeled drugs (S. K. Li et al., 2008). Future pharmacogenetic studies could reveal relevant interindividual differences in the drug transporter molecule profiles, which could predispose to the effects of such interactions The mechanism of antinociceptive potentiation between pregabalin and opioids seems to be mediated via voltage-gated calcium channels. The role of VGCCs has gained attention in pain signaling studies (Gribkoff, 2006), and VGCCs have been a target for the development of pharmacological inhibitors (S. Lee, 2013). As the understanding of the function of the subunit $\alpha 2\delta 1$, the binding site of pregabalin, remains incomplete, further basic research characterizing its function might provide a basis for future drug development. In addition, the role of functional selectivity of μ -opioid receptor in pharmacodynamic drug interactions between opioids and other drugs should be studied more extensively as it might prove to have a clinical impact. The detailed view of the distinct glial cell populations involved in opioid-induced neuroinflammation and the time scale of its progression remain to be elucidated. The endeavour to develop effective treatments for opioid tolerance and opioid-induced hyperalgesia would benefit from focused studies on the molecular mechanisms and identification of new druggable targets.

Conclusions

Conclusions addressing the aims of this thesis using the rat as a model organism:

- I. Spironolactone did not display antinociceptive effects of its own, but acutely enhanced the morphine antinociception, most likely by inhibiting P-gp and increasing morphine brain concentrations. Spironolactone did not prevent the development of morphine tolerance. Spironolactone increased the antinociceptive effects and brain concentrations of oxycodone. Unlike with morphine, the mechanism of the potentiation is probably through inhibition of metabolism. The increased brain disposition might be associated with Pgp inhibition.
- II. Pregabalin enhances the antinociceptive and sedative effects of both oxycodone and morphine. The interaction, however, differs between the opioids as it depends on dose or/and temporal scheme of the drug administration. The behavioral results could not be explained by pharmacokinetic interaction at the CNS level. Pregabalin did not prevent or reverse morphine tolerance.
- III. Chronic morphine treatment induced tolerance and hyperalgesia. The associated increase in microglia activation took place at the spinal but not the supraspinal level, including the relevant brain regions related to pain processing. The transcriptome of the spinal microglia cells indicated upregulation of pro-inflammatory processes and genes associated with pathological pain.

Acknowledgments

These studies were carried out at the Department of Pharmacology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Helsinki, during the period 2011–2017. In addition, the Department of Clinical Pharmacology, the Institute of Biotechnology, the Neuroscience Center, and the Helsinki Institute of Life Science, University of Helsinki as well as the Pain Clinic, Department of Anesthesia and Intensive Care Medicine, Helsinki University Central Hospital are thanked for their contributions.

I warmly thank my supervisors Eija Kalso and Pekka Rauhala. I hold you both in high regard. Eija, you are a multitalent and have such a passionate curiosity for the miracles and mysteries of life, reminding me of Leonardo da Vinci. Pekka, you are reminiscent of the person, whoever he was, who designed the Apollo 11 lunar mission because you both share the amazing skill of identifying the essential in the most complex of matters.

Your superb people skills and practical approach to research paved the way for me. I'm grateful that a rookie like me had the opportunity to learn from such people.

Tuomas Lilius, my brother-in-arms, no words needed. All co-authors are warmly acknowledged: Hanna Viisanen-Kuopila, Oleg Kambur, Jouko Laitila, Henna Tiilikainen, Zhilin Li, Kert Mätlik, Jenni Anttila, Mikko Neuvonen, Mikko Airavaara, Mikko Niemi, Li Tian, Ilida Suleymanova, Yulia Sidorova, and Antti Väänänen; you truly made this thesis possible, thank you. Sari Laakkonen, Päivi Leinikka, and Lahja Eurajoki, thank you, as well as all the other personnel in the Department of Pharmacology who have kindly helped me. I also thank the wise senior scientists Heikki Vapaatalo, Esa Korpi, Eero Mervaala, Esko Kankuri, Petri Hyytiä, and Anni-Maija Linden. I only regret that I've not gotten to know you better during my working period. Lunch time discussions have always been a joy. Teemu Aitta-Aho, Aino Siltari, Hanne Salmenkari, Richard Forsgård, Antti Siltanen, Kristo Nuutila, Elena Vashchinkina, Fredrik Ahlström, Kim Blomqvist, and Leena Karhinen, it has been a pleasure to work with you, and equally a pleasure just to chat about working. Especially Teemu Aitta-Aho, thank you for the inspiring corridor discussions. Kirsi Peltola-Haavisto and all the others from Riihimäki, thank you for your support and that you have made this project possible. Petteri Piepponen and Pentti Kemppainen are acknowledged for their work in the steering committee. Family and friends, a humble thank you. My memory is overflowing with all the people that deserve to be acknowledged and in the case that I have forgotten to mention somebody in this text, my sincere apologies. Research long, memory short.

Medical Society of Finland (Finska Läkaresällskapet), the Finnish Dental Society Apollonia, and the Finnish Association for the Study of Pain are thanked for financial support.

References

- Ab Aziz, C.B., Ahmad, A.H., 2006. The Role of the Thalamus in Modulating Pain. Malays J Med Sci 13, 11–18.
- Al-Hasani, R., Bruchas, M.R., 2011. Molecular Mechanisms of Opioid Receptor-Dependent Signaling and Behavior. Anesthesiology 115, 1363–1381.
- Allchorne, A.J., Broom, D.C., Woolf, C.J., 2005. Detection of cold pain, cold allodynia and cold hyperalgesia in freely behaving rats. Mol Pain 1, 36.
- Allouche, S., Noble, F., Marie, N., 2014. Opioid receptor desensitization: mechanisms and its link to tolerance. Front Pharmacol 5, 280.
- Andersen, G., Christrup, L., Sjogren, P., 2003. Relationships among morphine metabolism, pain and side effects during long-term treatment: an update. J Pain Symptom Manage 25, 74–91.
- Anderson, C.M., Swanson, R.A., 2000. Astrocyte glutamate transport: review of properties, regulation, and physiological functions. Glia 32, 1–14.
- Askitopoulou, H., Ramoutsaki, I.A., Konsolaki, E., 2002. Archaeological evidence on the use of opium in the Minoan world. Int. Congr. Ser. 1242, 23–29.
- Auld, D.S., Robitaille, R., 2003. Glial Cells and Neurotransmission. Neuron 40, 389–400.
- Aquilante, C.L, Letrent, S.P., Pollack, G.M., Brouwer, K.L., 2000. Increased brain Pglycoprotein in morphine tolerant rats. Life Sci 66, PL47–51.
- Babalonis, S., Lofwall, M.R., Nuzzo, P.A., Walsh, S.L., 2016. Pharmacodynamic effects of oral oxymorphone: abuse liability, analgesic profile and direct physiologic effects in humans. Addict Biol 21, 146–158.
- Baker, D.E., 2007. Loperamide: a pharmacological review. Rev Gastroenterol Disord 7 Suppl 3, S11–8.
- Basbaum, A.I., Bautista, D.M., Scherrer, G., Julius, D., 2009. Cellular and Molecular Mechanisms of Pain. Cell 139, 267–284.
- Bellgowan, P.S., Bellgowan, P.S., Helmstetter, F.J., Helmstetter, F.J., 1998. The role of mu and kappa opioid receptors within the periaqueductal gray in the expression of conditional hypoalgesia. Brain Res 791, 83–89.
- Benarroch, E.E., 2012. Endogenous opioid systems: current concepts and clinical correlations. Neurology 79, 807–814.
- Benyamin, R., Trescot, A.M., Datta, S., Buenaventura, R., Adlaka, R., Sehgal, N., Glaser, S.E., Vallejo, R., 2008. Opioid complications and side effects. Pain Physician 11, S105–20.
- Bernal, S.A., Morgan, M.M., Craft, R.M., 2007. PAG mu opioid receptor activation underlies sex differences in morphine antinociception. Behav Brain Res 177, 126–

133.

- Besse, D., Lombard, M.C., Zajac, J.M., Roques, B.P., Besson, J.M., 1990. Pre- and postsynaptic distribution of μ , δ and κ opioid receptors in the superficial layers of the cervical dorsal horn of the rat spinal cord. Brain Res 521, 15–22.
- Bie, B., Pan, Z.Z., 2005. Increased glutamate synaptic transmission in the nucleus raphe magnus neurons from morphine-tolerant rats. Mol Pain 1, 7–7.
- Bockbrader, H.N., Radulovic, L.L., Posvar, E.L., Strand, J.C., Alvey, C.W., Busch, J.A., Randinitis, E.J., Corrigan, B.W., Haig, G.M., Boyd, R.A., Wesche, D.L., 2010a. Clinical pharmacokinetics of pregabalin in healthy volunteers. J Clin Pharmacol 50, 941– 950.
- Bockbrader, H.N., Wesche, D., Miller, R., Chapel, S., Janiczek, N., Burger, P., 2010b. A comparison of the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of pregabalin and gabapentin. Clin Pharmacokinet 49, 661–669.
- Bohn, L.M., Gainetdinov, R.R., Lin, F.T., Lefkowitz, R.J., Caron, M.G., 2000. Mu-opioid receptor desensitization by beta-arrestin-2 determines morphine tolerance but not dependence. Nature 408, 720–723.
- Boström, E., Simonsson, U.S., Hammarlund-Udenaes, M., 2006. In Vivo Blood-Brain Barrier Transport of Oxycodone in the Rat: Indications for Active Influx and Implications for Pharmacokinetics/Pharmacodynamics. Drug Metab Dispos 34, 1624–1631.
- Boström, E., Hammarlund-Udenaes, M., Simonsson, U.S.H., 2008. Blood–Brain Barrier Transport Helps to Explain Discrepancies in In Vivo Potency between Oxycodone and Morphine. Anesthesiology 108, 495–505.
- Boström, E., Simonsson, U.S.H., Hammarlund-Udenaes, M., 2005. Oxycodone pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in the rat in the presence of the Pglycoprotein inhibitor PSC833. J Pharm Sci 94, 1060–1066.
- Bouhy, D., Ghasemlou, N., Lively, S., Redensek, A., Rathore, K.I., Schlichter, L.C., David, S., 2011. Inhibition of the Ca(2)(+)-dependent K(+) channel, KCNN4/KCa3.1, improves tissue protection and locomotor recovery after spinal cord injury. J Neurosci 31, 16298–16308.
- Bourinet, E., Soong, T.W., Stea, A., Snutch, T.P., 1996. Determinants of the G proteindependent opioid modulation of neuronal calcium channels. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93, 1486–1491.
- Brennan, T.J., Vandermeulen, E.P., Gebhart, G.F., 1996. Characterization of a rat model of incisional pain. Pain, 64, 493–501.
- Brunton, L., Chabner, B., Knollman, B., 2011. Goodman&Gilmans's The Pharmacological Basics of THERAPEUTICS, 12th edition. McGRawHill, pp. 1927, 1935, 1967, 1978.
- Caraceni, A., Hanks, G., Kaasa, S., Bennett, M.I., Brunelli, C., Cherny, N., Dale, O., De Conno, F., Fallon, M., Hanna, M., Haugen, D.F., Juhl, G., King, S., Klepstad, P., Laugsand, E.A., Maltoni, M., Mercadante, S., Nabal, M., Pigni, A., Radbruch, L., Reid, C., Sjogren, P., Stone, P.C., Tassinari, D., Zeppetella, G., 2012. Use of opioid

analgesics in the treatment of cancer pain: evidence-based recommendations from the EAPC. Lancet Oncol 13, e58–e68.

- Carrillo-de Sauvage, M.A., Maatouk, L., Arnoux, I., Pasco, M., Sanz Diez, A., Delahaye, M., Herrero, M.T., Newman, T.A., Calvo, C.F., Audinat, E., Tronche, F., Vyas, S., 2013. Potent and multiple regulatory actions of microglial glucocorticoid receptors during CNS inflammation. Cell Death Differ 20, 1546–1557.
- CDC, 2016. Opioid Data Analysis [WWW Document]. https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/65/wr/mm655051e1.htm. Last accessed 5.29.17.
- Chao, C.C., Hu, S., Shark, K.B., Sheng, W.S., Gekker, G., Peterson, P.K., 1997. Activation of mu opioid receptors inhibits microglial cell chemotaxis. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 281, 998–1004.
- Chartoff, E.H., Connery, H.S., 2014. It's MORe exciting than mu: crosstalk between mu opioid receptors and glutamatergic transmission in the mesolimbic dopamine system. Front Pharmacol 5, 116.
- Chen, X., Geller, E.B., Rogers, T.J., Adler, M.W., 2007. The chemokine CX3CL1/fractalkine interferes with the antinociceptive effect induced by opioid agonists in the periaqueductal grey of rats. Brain Res 1153, 52–57.
- Chen, Y.-J., Nguyen, H.M., Maezawa, I., Grössinger, E.M., Garing, A.L., Köhler, R., Jin, L.-W., Wulff, H., 2016. The potassium channel KCa3.1 constitutes a pharmacological target for neuroinflammation associated with ischemia/reperfusion stroke. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 36, 2146–2161.
- Chesler, E.J., Wilson, S.G., Lariviere, W.R., Rodriguez-Zas, S.L., Mogil, J.S., 2002. Identification and ranking of genetic and laboratory environment factors influencing a behavioral trait, thermal nociception, via computational analysis of a large data archive. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 26, 907–923.
- Chou, R., Fanciullo, G.J., Fine, P.G., Adler, J.A., Ballantyne, J.C., Davies, P., Donovan, M.I., Fishbain, D.A., Foley, K.M., Fudin, J., Gilson, A.M., Kelter, A., Mauskop, A., O'Connor, P.G., Passik, S.D., Pasternak, G.W., Portenoy, R.K., Rich, B.A., Roberts, R.G., Todd, K.H., Miaskowski, C., 2009. Clinical Guidelines for the Use of Chronic Opioid Therapy in Chronic Noncancer Pain. J Pain 10, 113–130.
- Christoph, T., De Vry, J., Schiene, K., Tallarida, R.J., Tzschentke, T.M., 2011. Synergistic antihypersensitive effects of pregabalin and tapentadol in a rat model of neuropathic pain. Eur J Pharmacol 666, 72–79.
- Chu, H., Klemp, A., Stille, G., 1978. Effects of furosemide and spironolactone on the behavior of morphine-tolerant rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 59, 309–310.
- Chu X., Bleasby K., Evers R., 2013. Species differences in drug transporters and implications for translating preclinical findings to humans. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol 9, 237-252.
- Clarke, H., Pereira, S., Kennedy, D., Gilron, I., Katz, J., Gollish, J., Kay, J., 2009. Gabapentin decreases morphine consumption and improves functional recovery

following total knee arthroplasty. Pain Res Manag 14, 217–222.

- Coffman, B.L., Rios, G.R., King, C.D., Tephly, T.R., 1997. Human UGT2B7 catalyzes morphine glucuronidation. Drug Metab Dispos 25, 1–4.
- Collett, B.J., 1998. Opioid tolerance: the clinical perspective. Br J Anaesth 81, 58-68.

Colloca, L., Grillon, C., 2014. Understanding Placebo and Nocebo Responses for Pain Management. Curr Pain Headache Rep 18, 419.

- Commons, K.G., Aicher, S.A., Kow, L.M., Pfaff, D.W., 2000. Presynaptic and postsynaptic relations of mu-opioid receptors to gamma-aminobutyric acid-immunoreactive and medullary-projecting periaqueductal gray neurons. J. Comp. Neurol. 419, 532–542.
- Contet, C., Kieffer, B.L., Befort, K., 2004. Mu opioid receptor: a gateway to drug addiction. Curr Opin Neurobiol 14, 370–378.
- Cook, C.S., Berry, L.M., Kim, D.H., Burton, E.G., Hribar, J.D., Zhang, L., 2002. Involvement of CYP3A in the Metabolism of Eplerenone in Humans and Dogs: Differential Metabolism by CYP3A4 and CYP3A5. Drug Metab Dispos 30, 1344– 1351.
- Corder, G., Tawfik, V.L., Wang, D., Sypek, E.I., Low, S.A., Dickinson, J.R., Sotoudeh, C., Clark, J.D., Barres, B.A., Bohlen, C.J., Scherrer, G., 2017 Loss of [mu] opioid receptor signaling in nociceptors, but not microglia, abrogates morphine tolerance without disrupting analgesia. Nat Med 23, 164–173.
- Coste, O., Brenneis, C., Linke, B., Pierre, S., Maeurer, C., Becker, W., Schmidt, H., Gao,
 W., Geisslinger, G., Scholich, K., 2008. Sphingosine 1-phosphate modulates spinal nociceptive processing. J Biol Chem 283, 32442–32451.
- Cox, J.J., Reimann, F., Nicholas, A.K., Thornton, G., Roberts, E., Springell, K., Karbani, G., Jafri, H., Mannan, J., Raashid, Y., Al-Gazali, L., Hamamy, H., Valente, E.M., Gorman, S., Williams, R., McHale, D.P., Wood, J.N., Gribble, F.M., Woods, C.G., 2006. An SCN9A channelopathy causes congenital inability to experience pain. Nature 444, 894–898.
- Cui, Y., Chen, Y., Zhi, J.-L., Guo, R.-X., Feng, J.-Q., Chen, P.-X., 2006. Activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in spinal microglia mediates morphine antinociceptive tolerance. Brain Res 1069, 235–243.
- Cui, Y., Liao, X.-X., Liu, W., Guo, R.-X., Wu, Z.-Z., Zhao, C.-M., Chen, P.-X., Feng, J.-Q., 2008. A novel role of minocycline: Attenuating morphine antinociceptive tolerance by inhibition of p38 MAPK in the activated spinal microglia. Brain Behav Immun 22, 114–123.
- Dagenais, C., Graff, C.L., Pollack, G.M., 2004. Variable modulation of opioid brain uptake by P-glycoprotein in mice. Biochem Pharmacol 67, 269–276.
- Dang, V.C., Williams, J.T., 2004. Chronic Morphine Treatment Reduces Recovery from Opioid Desensitization. J Neurosci 24, 7699–7706.
- De Gregori, S., De Gregori, M., Ranzani, G.N., Allegri, M., Minella, C., Regazzi, M., 2012. Morphine metabolism, transport and brain disposition. Metab Brain Dis. 27, 1–5.

- Delyani, J.A., 2000. Mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists: the evolution of utility and pharmacology. Kidney Int. 57, 1408–1411.
- Dib-Hajj, S.D., Cummins, T.R., Black, J.A., Waxman, S.G., 2010. Sodium Channels in Normal and Pathological Pain. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 33, 325–347.
- Dobrev, D., Milde, A.S., Andreas, K., Ravens, U., 1999. The effects of verapamil and diltiazem on N-, P- and Q-type calcium channels mediating dopamine release in rat striatum. Br. J. Pharmacol. 127, 576–582.
- Dolphin, A.C., 2016. Voltage-gated calcium channels and their auxiliary subunits: physiology and pathophysiology and pharmacology. J Physiol. 594, 5369–5390.
- Dolphin, A.C., 1998. Mechanisms of modulation of voltage-dependent calcium channels by G proteins. J Physiol. 506, 3–11.
- Domínguez-Ramírez AM., Cortés-Arroyo AR., Peña MH., Aoki-Maki K., López JR., Ríos-Castañeda C., López-Muñoz FJ., 2006. High-performance liquid chromatographic assay for morphine in small plasma samples: application to pharmacokinetic studies in rats. J Pharm Biomed Anal 40, 1172-1178.
- Dong, F., Xie, W., Strong, J.A., Zhang, J.-M., 2012. Mineralocorticoid receptor blocker eplerenone reduces pain behaviors in vivo and decreases excitability in smalldiameter sensory neurons from local inflamed dorsal root ganglia in vitro. Anesthesiology 117, 1102–1112.
- Dreborg, S., Sundström, G., Larsson, T.A., Larhammar, D., 2008. Evolution of vertebrate opioid receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105, 15487–15492.
- Drewes, A.M., Jensen, R.D., Nielsen, L.M., Droney, J., Christrup, L.L., Arendt-Nielsen, L., Riley, J., Dahan, A., 2013. Differences between opioids: pharmacological, experimental, clinical and economical perspectives. Br J Clin Pharmacol 75, 60–78.
- Duarte, J.D., Cooper-DeHoff, R.M., 2010. Mechanisms for blood pressure lowering and metabolic effects of thiazide and thiazide-like diuretics. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther 8, 793–802.
- Dubin, A.E., Patapoutian, A., 2010. Nociceptors: the sensors of the pain pathway. J Clin Invest 120, 3760–3772.
- Due, M.R., Piekarz, A.D., Wilson, N., Feldman, P., Ripsch, M.S., Chavez, S., Yin, H., Khanna, R., White, F.A., 2012. Neuroexcitatory effects of morphine-3-glucuronide are dependent on Toll-like receptor 4 signaling. J Neuroinflammation 9, 3273.
- Dumas, E.O., Pollack, G.M., 2008. Opioid Tolerance Development: A Pharmacokinetic/Pharmacodynamic Perspective. AAPS J 10, 537.
- Dworkin, R.H., O'Connor, A.B., Audette, J., Baron, R., Gourlay, G.K., Haanpää, M.L., Kent, J.L., Krane, E.J., LeBel, A.A., Levy, R.M., Mackey, S.C., Mayer, J., Miaskowski, C., Raja, S.N., Rice, A.S.C., Schmader, K.E., Stacey, B., Stanos, S., Treede, R.-D., Turk, D.C., Walco, G.A., Wells, C.D., 2010. Recommendations for the Pharmacological Management of Neuropathic Pain: An Overview and Literature Update. Mayo Clin Proc 85, S3–S14.
- Eckhardt, K., Ammon, S., Hofmann, U., Riebe, A., Gugeler, N., Mikus, G., 2000.

Gabapentin enhances the analgesic effect of morphine in healthy volunteers. Anesth Analg 91, 185–191.

Eguchi, M., 2004. Recent advances in selective opioid receptor agonists and antagonists. Med Res Rev 24, 182–212.

Eidson, L.N., Murphy, A.Z., 2013. Blockade of Toll-Like Receptor 4 Attenuates Morphine Tolerance and Facilitates the Pain Relieving Properties of Morphine. J Neurosci 33, 15952–15963.

Evoy, K.E., Morrison, M.D., Saklad, S.R., 2017. Abuse and Misuse of Pregabalin and Gabapentin. Drugs 77, 403–426.

Fassoulaki, A., Melemeni, A., Tsaroucha, A., Paraskeva, A., 2012. Perioperative pregabalin for acute and chronic pain after abdominal hysterectomy or myomectomy. Eur J Anaesthesiol 29, 531–536.

Fehrenbacher, J.C., Taylor, C.P., Vasko, M.R., 2003. Pregabalin and gabapentin reduce release of substance P and CGRP from rat spinal tissues only after inflammation or activation of protein kinase C. Pain 105, 133–141.

Field, M.J., Cox, P.J., Stott, E., Melrose, H., Offord, J., Su, T.-Z., Bramwell, S., Corradini, L., England, S., Winks, J., Kinloch, R.A., Hendrich, J., Dolphin, A.C., Webb, T., Williams, D., 2006. Identification of the alpha2-delta-1 subunit of voltage-dependent calcium channels as a molecular target for pain mediating the analgesic actions of pregabalin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103, 17537–17542.

Fimea, 2016. SUOMEN LÄÄKETILASTO FINNISH STATISTICS ON MEDICINES 2015. [WWW Document].

https://www.fimea.fi/documents/160140/1188389/Suomen_I%C3%A4%C3%A4ke tilasto_2015.pdf/a813feac-1560-4cbf-80e1-44049449e0bf. Last accessed 7.18.17

Fimea, 2012. SUOMEN LÄÄKETILASTO FINNISH STATISTICS ON MEDICINES 2011. [WWW Document].

https://www.fimea.fi/documents/160140/753095/22707_SLT_2011_net.pdf. Last accessed 7.17.17

Fimea, 2010. SUOMEN LÄÄKETILASTO FINNISH STATISTICS ON MEDICINES 2009. [WWW Document].

http://www.julkari.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/130851/Suomen%20l%c3%a4%c3% a4ketilasto%202009.pdf?sequence=1. Last accessed 7.18.17

Fimea, n.d. Lääkekulutus vuosina 2012 - 2015. [WWW Document]. http://raportit.nam.fi/raportit/kulutus/laakekulutus.htm. Last accessed 7.18.17

- Fink, K., Dooley, D.J., Meder, W.P., Suman-Chauhan, N., Duffy, S., Clusmann, H., Göthert, M., 2002. Inhibition of neuronal Ca(2+) influx by gabapentin and pregabalin in the human neocortex. Neuropharmacology 42, 229–236.
- Finnerup, N.B., Attal, N., Haroutounian, S., McNicol, E., Baron, R., Dworkin, R.H., Gilron,
 I., Haanpaa, M., Hansson, P., Jensen, T.S., Kamerman, P.R., Lund, K., Moore, A.,
 Raja, S.N., Rice, A.S.C., Rowbotham, M., Sena, E., Siddall, P., Smith, B.H., Wallace,
 M., 2015. Pharmacotherapy for neuropathic pain in adults: a systematic review

and meta-analysis. Lancet Neurol 14, 162–173.

- Foo, H., Helmstetter, F.J., 1999. Hypoalgesia elicited by a conditioned stimulus is blocked by a mu, but not a delta or a kappa, opioid antagonist injected into the rostral ventromedial medulla. Pain 83, 427–431.
- Ford, G.K., Kieran, S., Dolan, K., Harhen, B., Finn, D.P., 2011. A role for the ventral hippocampal endocannabinoid system in fear-conditioned analgesia and fear responding in the presence of nociceptive tone in rats. Pain 152, 2495–2504.
- François, A., Low, S.A., Sypek, E.I., Christensen, A.J., Sotoudeh, C., Beier, K.T., Ramakrishnan, C., Ritola, K.D., Sharif-Naeini, R., Deisseroth, K., Delp, S.L., Malenka, R.C., Luo, L., Hantman, A.W., Scherrer, G., 2017. A Brainstem-Spinal Cord Inhibitory Circuit for Mechanical Pain Modulation by GABA and Enkephalins. Neuron 93, 822–839.e6.
- Fredheim, O.M.S., Borchgrevink, P.C., Klepstad, P., Kaasa, S., Dale, O., 2012. Long term methadone for chronic pain: A pilot study of pharmacokinetic aspects. Eur J Pain 11, 599–604.
- Funder, J.W., 2012. Aldosterone and mineralocorticoid receptors: A personal reflection. Mol Cell Endocrinol 350, 146–150.
- Gajraj, N.M., 2007. Pregabalin: its pharmacology and use in pain management. Anesth Analg 105, 1805–1815.
- Gamba, G., 2009. The thiazide-sensitive Na(+)-Cl(–) cotransporter: molecular biology, functional properties, and regulation by WNKs. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 297, F838–F848.
- Gaveriaux-Ruff, C., Kieffer, B.L., 2011. Delta opioid receptor analgesia: recent contributions from pharmacology and molecular approaches. Behav Pharmacol 22, 405–414.
- Gilron, I., Biederman, J., Jhamandas, K., Hong, M., 2003. Gabapentin blocks and reverses antinociceptive morphine tolerance in the rat paw-pressure and tail-flick tests. Anesthesiology 98, 1288–1292.
- Gomez-Sanchez, E., Gomez-Sanchez, C.E., 2014. The Multifaceted Mineralocorticoid Receptor. Compr Physiol 4, 965–994.
- Grace, P.M., Hutchinson, M.R., Maier, S.F., Watkins, L.R., 2014. Pathological pain and the neuroimmune interface. Nat Rev Immunol 14, 217–231.
- Grace, P.M., Maier, S.F., Watkins, L.R., 2015. Opioid-induced central immune signaling: implications for opioid analgesia. Headache 55, 475–489.
- Granados-Soto, V., Arguelles, C.F., Alvarez-Leefmans, F.J., 2005. Peripheral and central antinociceptive action of Na+-K+-2Cl- cotransporter blockers on formalin-induced nociception in rats. Pain 114, 231–238.
- Gribkoff, V.K., 2006. The role of voltage-gated calcium channels in pain and nociception. Pain 17, 555–564.
- Groer, C.E., Tidgewell, K., Moyer, R.A., Harding, W.W., Rothman, R.B., Prisinzano, T.E., Bohn, L.M., 2006. An Opioid Agonist that Does Not Induce -Opioid Receptor--

Arrestin Interactions or Receptor Internalization. Mol Pharmacol 71, 549–557.

- Gu, X., Peng, L., Yang, D., Ma, Q., Zheng, Y., Liu, C., Zhu, B., Song, L., Sun, X., Ma, Z., 2011. The respective and interaction effects of spinal GRs and MRs on radicular pain induced by chronic compression of the dorsal root ganglion in the rat. Brain Res 1396, 88–95.
- Gupta, N., Price, P.M., Aboagye, E.O., 2002. PET for in vivo pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic measurements. Eur J Cancer 38, 2094–2107.
- Han, J.S., Zhang, Z.W., Sun, Y.H., Zhou, Y., 1993. Increased release of immunoreactive cholecystokinin octapeptide by morphine and potentiation of mu-opioid analgesia by CCKB receptor antagonist L-365,260 in rat spinal cord. Eur J Pharmacol 234, 147–154.
- Hannaert, P., Alvarez-Guerra, M., Pirot, D., Nazaret, C., Garay, R.P., 2002. Rat NKCC2/NKCC1 cotransporter selectivity for loop diuretic drugs. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 365, 193–199.
- Hasbargen, T., Ahmed, M.M., Miranpuri, G., Li, L., Kahle, K.T., Resnick, D., Sun, D., 2010.
 Role of NKCC1 and KCC2 in the development of chronic neuropathic pain following spinal cord injury. Annals NY Acad Sci 1198, 168–172.
- Hassan, H.E., Myers, A.L., Lee, I.J., Coop, A., Eddington, N.D., 2007. Oxycodone induces overexpression of P-glycoprotein (ABCB1) and affects paclitaxel's tissue distribution in Sprague Dawley rats. J Pharm Sci 96, 2494–2506.
- Hasselström, J., Säwe, J., 1993. Morphine Pharmacokinetics and Metabolism in Humans. Clin Pharmacokinet 24, 344–354.
- Häkkinen, M., Vuori E., Kalso E., Gergov M., Ojanperä I., 2014. Profiles of pregabalin and gabapentin abuse by postmortem toxicology. Forensic Sci Int, 241, 1-6.
- Heiskanen, T., Backman, J.T., Neuvonen, M., Kontinen, V.K., Neuvonen, P.J., Kalso, E.,
 2008. Itraconazole, a potent inhibitor of P-glycoprotein, moderately increases
 plasma concentrations of oral morphine. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 52, 1319–1326.
- Henssen, D.J.H.A., Kurt, E., Kozicz, T., van Dongen, R., Bartels, R.H.M.A., van Cappellen van Walsum, A.-M., 2016. New Insights in Trigeminal Anatomy: A Double Orofacial Tract for Nociceptive Input. Front Neuroanat 10, 463.
- Holdridge, S.V., Armstrong, S.A., Taylor, A.M.W., Cahill, C.M., 2007. Behavioural and morphological evidence for the involvement of glial cell activation in delta opioid receptor function: implications for the development of opioid tolerance. Mol Pain 3, 7.
- Horvath, R.J., Romero-Sandoval, E.A., De Leo, J.A., 2010. Inhibition of microglial P2X4 receptors attenuates morphine tolerance, Iba1, GFAP and mu opioid receptor protein expression while enhancing perivascular microglial ED2. Pain 150, 401–413.
- Hossaini, M., Goos, J.A.C., Kohli, S.K., Holstege, J.C., 2012. Distribution of Glycine/GABA Neurons in the Ventromedial Medulla with Descending Spinal Projections and Evidence for an Ascending Glycine/GABA Projection. PLoS One 7.

- Hsia, J.A., Moss, J., Hewlett, E.L., Vaughan, M., 1984. ADP-ribosylation of adenylate cyclase by pertussis toxin. Effects on inhibitory agonist binding. J Biol Chem 259, 1086–1090.
- Hutchinson, M.R., Lewis, S.S., Coats, B.D., Skyba, D.A., Crysdale, N.Y., Berkelhammer, D.L., Brzeski, A., Northcutt, A., Vietz, C.M., Judd, C.M., Maier, S.F., Watkins, L.R., Johnson, K.W., 2009. Reduction of opioid withdrawal and potentiation of acute opioid analgesia by systemic AV411 (ibudilast). Brain Behav Immun 23, 240–250.
- Hutchinson, M.R., Northcutt, A.L., Hiranita, T., Wang, X., Lewis, S.S., Thomas, J., van Steeg, K., Kopajtic, T.A., Loram, L.C., Sfregola, C., Galer, E., Miles, N.E., Bland, S.T., Amat, J., Rozeske, R.R., Maslanik, T., Chapman, T.R., Strand, K.A., Fleshner, M., Bachtell, R.K., Somogyi, A.A., Yin, H., Katz, J.L., Rice, K.C., Maier, S.F., Watkins, L.R., 2012. Opioid activation of toll-like receptor 4 contributes to drug reinforcement. J Neurosci 32, 11187–11200.
- Hutchinson, M.R., Zhang, Y., Shridhar, M., Evans, J.H., Buchanan, M.M., Zhao, T.X., Slivka, P.F., Coats, B.D., Rezvani, N., Wieseler, J., Hughes, T.S., Landgraf, K.E., Chan, S., Fong, S., Phipps, S., Falke, J.J., Leinwand, L.A., Maier, S.F., Yin, H., Rice, K.C., Watkins, L.R., 2010. Evidence that opioids may have toll-like receptor 4 and MD-2 effects. Brain Behav Immun 24, 83–95.
- Iannetti, G.D., Mouraux, A., 2010. From the neuromatrix to the pain matrix (and back). Exp Brain Res 205, 1–12.
- Ibrahim, S., Strong, J., Zhang, J.-M., 2016. Mineralocorticoid Receptor, A Promising Target for Improving Management of Low Back Pain by Epidural Steroid Injections. J Anesth Perioper Med 3, 177–184.
- Imamoto, N., Momosaki, S., Fujita, M., Omachi, S., Yamato, H., Kimura, M., Kanegawa, N., Shinohara, S., Abe, K., 2013. [11C]PK11195 PET imaging of spinal glial activation after nerve injury in rats. NeuroImage 79 IS -, 121–128.
- Jaggi, A.S., Singh, N., 2010. Differential effect of spironolactone in chronic constriction injury and vincristine-induced neuropathic pain in rats. Eur J Pharmacol 648, 102– 109.
- Jasmin, L., Burkey, A.R., Card, J.P., Basbaum, A.I., 1997. Transneuronal Labeling of a Nociceptive Pathway, the Spino-(Trigemino-)Parabrachio-Amygdaloid, in the Rat. J Neurosci 17, 3751–3765.
- Johnston, I.N., Milligan ED, Wieseler-Frank J, Frank M.G., Zapata V, Campisi J, Langer S, Martin D, Green P, Fleshner M, Leinwand L, Maier S.F., Watkins L.R., 2004. A Role for Proinflammatory Cytokines and Fractalkine in Analgesia, Tolerance, and Subsequent Pain Facilitation Induced by Chronic Intrathecal Morphine. J Neurosci 24, 7353–7365.
- Jokela, R., Ahonen, J., Tallgren, M., Haanpaa, M., Korttila, K., 2008. A randomized controlled trial of perioperative administration of pregabalin for pain after laparoscopic hysterectomy. Pain 134, 106–112.
- Julius, D., 2013. TRP channels and pain.

Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 29, 355-384.

- Kalso, E., Edwards, J.E., Moore, R.A., McQuay, H.J., 2004. Opioids in chronic non-cancer pain: systematic review of efficacy and safety. Pain 112, 372–380.
- Kao, S.-C., Zhao, X., Lee, C.-Y., Atianjoh, F.E., Gauda, E.B., Yaster, M., Tao, Y.-X., 2012. Absence of mu opioid receptor mRNA expression in astrocytes and microglia of rat spinal cord. Neuroreport 23, 378–384.
- Kapitzke, D., Vetter, I., Cabot, P.J., 2005. Endogenous opioid analgesia in peripheral tissues and the clinical implications for pain control. Ther Clin Risk Manag 1, 279–297.
- Karst, H., Berger, S., Turiault, M., Tronche, F., Schütz, G., Joëls, M., 2005. Mineralocorticoid receptors are indispensable for nongenomic modulation of hippocampal glutamate transmission by corticosterone. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102, 19204–19207.
- Kato, G., Yasaka, T., Katafuchi, T., Furue, H., Mizuno, M., Iwamoto, Y., Yoshimura, M., 2006. Direct GABAergic and glycinergic inhibition of the substantia gelatinosa from the rostral ventromedial medulla revealed by in vivo patch-clamp analysis in rats. J Neurosci 26, 1787–1794.
- Kaushal, V., Koeberle, P.D., Wang, Y., Schlichter, L.C., 2007. The Ca2+-activated K+ channel KCNN4/KCa3.1 contributes to microglia activation and nitric oxidedependent neurodegeneration. J Neurosci 27, 234–244.
- Kawasaki, Y., Zhang, L., Cheng, J.K., Ji, R.R., 2008. Cytokine Mechanisms of Central Sensitization: Distinct and Overlapping Role of Interleukin-1, Interleukin-6, and Tumor Necrosis Factor- in Regulating Synaptic and Neuronal Activity in the Superficial Spinal Cord. J Neurosci 28, 5189–5194.
- Kharasch, E.D., Hoffer, C., Whittington, D., Sheffels, P., 2003. Role of P-glycoprotein in the intestinal absorption and clinical effects of morphine. Clin Pharmacol Ther 74, 543–554.
- Kieffer, B.L., 1999 Opioids: first lessons from knockout mice. Trends Pharmacol Sci 20, 19–26.
- Kieffer, B.L., Gaveriaux-Ruff, C., 2002. Exploring the opioid system by gene knockout. Prog Neurobiol 66, 285–306.
- Knights, K.M., Bowalgaha, K., Miners, J.O., 2010. Spironolactone and canrenone inhibit UGT2B7-catalyzed human liver and kidney microsomal aldosterone 18betaglucuronidation: a potential drug interaction. Drug Metab Dispos 38, 1011–1014.
- Knopp, K.L., Stenfors, C., Baastrup, C., Bannon, A.W., Calvo, M., Caspani, O., Currie, G., Finnerup, N.B., Huang, W., Kennedy, J.D., Lefevre, I., Machin, I., Macleod, M., Rees, H., Rice, A.S.C., Rutten, K., Segerdahl, M., Serra, J., Wodarski, R., Berge, O.G., Treede, R.-D., 2015. Experimental design and reporting standards for improving the internal validity of pre-clinical studies in the field of pain: Consensus of the IMI-Europain consortium. Scand J Pain 7, 58–70.

Kobayashi, M., Konishi, H., Sayo, A., Takai, T., Kiyama, H., 2016. TREM2/DAP12 Signal

Elicits Proinflammatory Response in Microglia and Exacerbates Neuropathic Pain. J Neurosci 36, 11138–11150.

Kontinen, V., 2015. Raising the standards of preclinical pain studies. Scand J Pain 7, 38–39.

- Koppert, W., 2007. Opioid-induced hyperalgesia—Pathophysiology and clinical relevance. Acute Pain 9, 21–34.
- Kovoor, A., Nappey, V., Kieffer, B.L., Chavkin, C., 1997. μ and δ Opioid Receptors Are Differentially Desensitized by the Coexpression of β -Adrenergic Receptor Kinase 2 and β -Arrestin 2 in Xenopus Oocytes. J Biol Chem 272, 27605–27611.
- Kumar, R., Reeta, K.H., Ray, S.B., 2012. Antinociceptive effect of intrathecal loperamide: Role of mu-opioid receptor and calcium channels. Eur J Pharmacol 696, 77–82.
- Kuo, C.K., Hanioka, N., Hoshikawa, Y., Oguri, K., Yoshimura, H., 1991. Species difference of site-selective glucuronidation of morphine. J Pharmacobiodyn 14, 187–193.
- Lalley, P.M., Pilowsky, P.M., Forster, H.V., Zuperku, E.J., 2014. CrossTalk opposing view: The pre-Bötzinger complex is not essential for respiratory depression following systemic administration of opioid analgesics. J Physiol 592, 1163–1166.
- Lalovic, B., Kharasch, E., Hoffer, C., Risler, L., Liu-Chen, L.-Y., Shen, D.D., 2006a.
 Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of oral oxycodone in healthy human subjects: Role of circulating active metabolites. Clin Pharmacol Ther 79, 461–479.
- Lalovic, B., Phillips, B., Risler, L.L., Howald, W., Shen, D.D., 2004. Quantitative contribution of CYP2D6 and CYP3A to oxycodone metabolism in human liver and intestinal microsomes. Drug Metab Dispos 32, 447–454.
- Land, B.B., Bruchas, M.R., Lemos, J.C., Xu, M., Melief, E.J., Chavkin, C., 2008. The dysphoric component of stress is encoded by activation of the dynorphin kappa-opioid system. J Neurosci 28, 407–414.
- Le Bars, D., Gozariu, M., Cadden, S.W., 2001. Animal models of nociception. Pharmacol Rev 53, 597–652.
- Le Merrer, J., Becker, J.A.J., Befort, K., Kieffer, B.L., 2009. Reward Processing by the Opioid System in the Brain. Physiol Rev 89, 1379–1412.
- Lee, M., Silverman, S.M., Hansen, H., Patel, V.B., Manchikanti, L., 2011. A comprehensive review of opioid-induced hyperalgesia. Pain Physician 14, 145–161.
- Lee, M.C., Wanigasekera, V., Tracey, I., 2014. Imaging opioid analgesia in the human brain and its potential relevance for understanding opioid use in chronic pain. Neuropharmacology 84, 123–130.
- Lee, S., 2013. Pharmacological Inhibition of Voltage-gated Ca(2+) Channels for Chronic Pain Relief. Curr Neuropharmacol 11, 606–620.
- Leitz, J., Kavalali, E.T., 2016. Ca2+ Dependence of Synaptic Vesicle Endocytosis. The Neuroscientist 22, 464–476.
- Lemberg, K.K., Heiskanen, T.E., Kontinen, V.K., Kalso, E.A., 2009. Pharmacology of oxycodone: does it explain why oxycodone has become a bestselling strong

opioid? Scand J Pain 1 IS -, S18–S23.

- Lemberg, K.K., Kontinen, V.K., Siiskonen, A.O., Viljakka, K.M., Yli-Kauhaluoma, J.T., Korpi, E.R., Kalso, E.A., 2006. Antinociception by spinal and systemic oxycodone: why does the route make a difference? In vitro and in vivo studies in rats. Anesthesiology 105, 801–812.
- Lemberg, K.K., Siiskonen, A.O., Kontinen, V.K., Yli-Kauhaluoma, J.T., Kalso, E.A., 2008. Pharmacological characterization of noroxymorphone as a new opioid for spinal analgesia. Anesth Analg 106, 463–470– table of contents.
- Leppä, M., Korvenoja, A., Carlson, S., Timonen, P., Martinkauppi, S., Ahonen, J., Rosenberg, P.H., Aronen, H.J., Kalso, E.A., 2006. Acute opioid effects on human brain as revealed by functional magnetic resonance imaging. NeuroImage 31, 661– 669.
- Letrent, S.P., Pollack, G.M., Brouwer, K.R., Brouwer, K.L., 1999. Effects of a potent and specific P-glycoprotein inhibitor on the blood-brain barrier distribution and antinociceptive effect of morphine in the rat. Drug Metab Dispos 27, 827–834.
- Lewis, V.A., Gebhart, G.F., 1977. Evaluation of the periaqueductal central gray (PAG) as a morphine-specific locus of action and examination of morphine-induced and stimulation-produced analgesia at coincident PAG loci. Brain Res 124, 283–303.
- Li, S.K., Lizak, M.J., Jeong, E.-K., 2008. MRI in ocular drug delivery. NMR biomed 21, 941–956.
- Li, S.N., Brater, M., Andreas, K., 1999. Nicardipine inhibits N-type calcium channels in dbcAMP-differentiated neuroblastoma x glioma hybrid cells (NG 108-15 cells). Zhongguo Yao Li Xue Bao 20, 117–120.
- Li, Z., Taylor, C.P., Weber, M., Piechan, J., Prior, F., Bian, F., Cui, M., Hoffman, D., Donevan, S., 2011. Pregabalin is a potent and selective ligand for α2δ-1 and α2δ-2 calcium channel subunits. Eur J Pharmacol 667, 80–90.
- Liang, D.-Y., Shi, X., Li, X., Li, J., Clark, J.D., 2007. The β2 adrenergic receptor regulates morphine tolerance and physical dependence. Behav Brain Res 181, 118–126.
- Lindia, J., McGowan, E., Jochnowitz, N., Abbadie, C., 2005. Induction of CX3CL1 Expression in Astrocytes and CX3CR1 in Microglia in the Spinal Cord of a Rat Model of Neuropathic Pain. J Pain 6, 434–438.
- Liu, J.-G., Anand, K.J.S., 2001. Protein kinases modulate the cellular adaptations associated with opioid tolerance and dependence. Brain Res Rev 38, 1–19.
- Llorca-Torralba, M., Borges, G., Neto, F., Mico, J.A., Berrocoso, E., 2016. Noradrenergic Locus Coeruleus pathways in pain modulation. Neuroscience 338, 93–113.
- Maiaru, M., Tochiki, K.K., Cox, M.B., Annan, L.V., Bell, C.G., Feng, X., Hausch, F., Geranton, S.M., 2016. The stress regulator FKBP51 drives chronic pain by modulating spinal glucocorticoid signaling. Sci Transl Med 8, 325ra19.
- Mann, A., Illing, S., Miess, E., Schulz, S., 2014. Different mechanisms of homologous and heterologous μ-opioid receptor phosphorylation. Br. J. Pharmacol. 172, 311– 316.

- Mao, J., Price, D.D., Mayer, D.J., 1994. Thermal hyperalgesia in association with the development of morphine tolerance in rats: roles of excitatory amino acid receptors and protein kinase C. J Neurosci 14, 2301–2312.
- Mao, J., Sung, B., Ji, R.-R., Lim, G., 2002. Chronic morphine induces downregulation of spinal glutamate transporters: implications in morphine tolerance and abnormal pain sensitivity. J Neurosci 22, 8312–8323.

Marchland, S., 2012a. Neurophysiology of Pain, in: The Phenomenon of PAIN. IASP PRESS, pp. 67–69.

- Marchland, S., 2012b. Neurophysiology of Pain, in: The Phenomenon of PAIN. IASP PRESS, p. 89.
- Markowitz, R., Jacobson, J., Bain, G., Kornetsky, C., 1976. Naloxone blockade of morphine analgesia: a dose-effect study of duration and magnitude. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 199, 385–388.
- Maron, B.A., Leopold, J.A., 2008. Mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists and endothelial function. Curr Opin Investig Drugs 9, 963–969.
- Martin, M., Matifas, A., Maldonado, R., Kieffer, B.L., 2003. Acute antinociceptive responses in single and combinatorial opioid receptor knockout mice: distinct mu, delta and kappa tones. Eur J Neurosci 17, 701–708.
- Martiqnoni M., Groothuis G.M., de Kanter R., 2006. Species differences between mouse, rat, dog, monkey and human CYP-mediated drug metabolism, inhibition and induction. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol 2, 875-894.
- Mashayekhi, S.O., Sattari, M.R., Routledge, P.A., 2010. Evidence of active transport involvement in morphine transport via MDCKII and MDCK-PGP cell lines. Res Pharm Sci 5, 99–106.
- Mattioli, T.-A.M., Milne, B., Cahill, C.M., 2010. Ultra-low dose naltrexone attenuates chronic morphine-induced gliosis in rats. Mol Pain 6, 22.

Mattioli, T.A., Leduc-Pessah, H., Skelhorne-Gross, G., Nicol, C.J.B., Milne, B., Trang, T., Cahill, C.M., 2014. Toll-Like Receptor 4 Mutant and Null Mice Retain Morphine-Induced Tolerance, Hyperalgesia, and Physical Dependence. PLoS One 9, e97361.

McDonough, S.I., 2012. Calcium ion channels: challenges and successes in drug discovery. WIREs Membr Transp Signal 2, 85–104.

Melzack, R., Wall P.D., 1965. Pain mechanisms: a new theory. Science 19, 971-979

- Mendoza, J.E., 2011. Spinoreticular Tract, in: Encyclopedia of Clinical Neuropsychology, Encyclopedia of Clinical Neuropsychology. Springer, New York, pp. 2358–2358.
- Mert, T., Gunes, Y., Ozcengiz, D., Gunay, I., 2009. Magnesium modifies fentanylinduced local antinociception and hyperalgesia. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 380, 415–420.
- Meymandi, M.S., Sepehri, G., Mobasher, M., 2006. Gabapentin enhances the analgesic response to morphine in acute model of pain in male rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 85, 185–189.

Moayedi, M., Davis, K.D., 2012. Theories of pain: from specificity to gate control. Journal of Neurophysiology 109, 5–12.

Mogil, J.S., 2012. Sex differences in pain and pain inhibition: multiple explanations of a controversial phenomenon. Nat Rev Neurosci 13, 859–866.

- Morton, D.L., Sandhu, J.S., Jones, A.K., 2016. Brain imaging of pain: state of the art. J Pain Res 9, 613–624.
- Muldowney, J.A.3., Schoenhard, J.A., Benge, C.D., 2009. The clinical pharmacology of eplerenone. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol 5, 425–432.
- Muscoli, C., Doyle, T., Dagostino, C., Bryant, L., Chen, Z., Watkins, L.R., Ryerse, J., Bieberich, E., Neumman, W., Salvemini, D., 2010. Counter-Regulation of Opioid Analgesia by Glial-Derived Bioactive Sphingolipids. J Neurosci 30, 15400–15408.
- Nagaya, Y., Nozaki, Y., Kobayashi, K., Takenaka, O., Nakatani, Y., Kusano, K., Yoshimura, T., Kusuhara, H., 2014. Utility of cerebrospinal fluid drug concentration as a surrogate for unbound brain concentration in nonhuman primates. Drug Metab Pharmacokinet 29, 419–426.
- Nakamura, A., Hasegawa, M., Minami, K., Kanbara, T., Tomii, T., Nishiyori, A., Narita, M., Suzuki, T., Kato, A., 2013. Differential activation of the mu-opioid receptor by oxycodone and morphine in pain-related brain regions in a bone cancer pain model. Br. J. Pharmacol. 168, 375–388.
- Nakamura, T., Kakumoto, M., Yamashita, K., Takara, K., Tanigawara, Y., Sakaeda, T., Okumura, K., 2001. Factors influencing the prediction of steady state concentrations of digoxin. Biol Pharm Bull 24, 403–408.
- Nayak, D., Huo, Y., Kwang, W.X.T., Pushparaj, P.N., Kumar, S.D., Ling, E.-A., Dheen, S.T., 2010. Sphingosine kinase 1 regulates the expression of proinflammatory cytokines and nitric oxide in activated microglia. Neuroscience 166, 132–144.
- Nelson, A.D., Camilleri, M., 2016. Opioid-induced constipation: advances and clinical guidance. Ther Adv Chronic Dis 7, 121–134.
- Neuvonen M., Neuvonen PJ., 2008. Determination of oxycodone, noroxycodone, oxymorphone, and noroxymorphone in human plasma by liquid chromatographyelectrospray-tandem mass spectrometry. Ther Drug Monit 30, 330-340.
- Mahoori, A., Noroozinia, H., Hasani, E., Hosainzadeh, S., 2014. The effect of preoperative administration of gabapentin on post-operative pain relief after herniorrhaphy. Saudi J Anaesth 8, 220–223.
- Oakley, R.H., Cidlowski, J.A., 2013. The Biology of the Glucocorticoid Receptor: New Signaling Mechanisms in Health and Disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol 132, 1033–1044.
- Oertel, R., Arenz, N., Pietsch, J., Kirch, W., 2009. Simultaneous determination of three anticonvulsants using hydrophilic interaction LC-MS. J Sep Sci 32, 238-243.
- Okura, T., Hattori, A., Takano, Y., Sato, T., Hammarlund-Udenaes, M., Terasaki, T., Deguchi, Y., 2008. Involvement of the pyrilamine transporter, a putative organic cation transporter, in blood-brain barrier transport of oxycodone. Drug Metab

Dispos 36, 2005–2013.

Omote, K., Kawamata, M., Satoh, O., Iwasaki, H., Namiki, A., 1996. Spinal antinociceptive action of an N-Type voltage-dependent calcium channel blocker and the synergistic interaction with morphine. Anesthesiology 84, 636–643.

Omote, K., Sonoda, H., Kawamata, M., Iwasaki, H., Namiki, A., 1993. Potentiation of antinociceptive effects of morphine by calcium-channel blockers at the level of the spinal cord. Anesthesiology 79, 746–752.

Osborne, R., Joel, S., Trew, D., Slevin, M., 1990. Morphine and metabolite behavior after different routes of morphine administration: Demonstration of the importance of the active metabolite morphine-6-glucuronide. Clin Pharmacol Ther 47, 12–19.

Ossipov, M.H., Dussor, G.O., Porreca, F., 2010. Central modulation of pain. J Clin Invest 120, 3779–3787.

Pain & Policy Studies Group., n.d.. GLOBAL OPIOID CONSUMPTION, 2015 [WWW Document].

http://www.painpolicy.wisc.edu/sites/www.painpolicy.wisc.edu/files/global_me_ methadone.pdf. Last accessed 5.21.17.

- Panneton, W.M., Gan, Q., Livergood, R.S., 2011. A trigeminoreticular pathway: implications in pain. PLoS One 6, e24499.
- Pasternak, G.W., Pan, Y.-X., 2013. Mu Opioids and Their Receptors: Evolution of a Concept. Pharmacol Rev 65, 1257–1317.
- Patestas, M.A., Gartner, L.P., 2016. Reticular formation, in: A Textbook of Neuroanatomy, 2nd Edition. Wiley, p. 307.

Peng, P.W., Wijeysundera, D.N., Li, C.C., 2007. Use of gabapentin for perioperative pain control – A meta-analysis. Pain Res Manag 12, 85–92.

Penttinen, A.-M., Suleymanova, I., Albert, K., Anttila, J., Voutilainen, M.H., Airavaara, M., 2016. Characterization of a new low-dose 6-hydroxydopamine model of Parkinson's disease in rat. J Neurosci Res 94, 318–328.

Pichette, V., Souich, du, P., 1996. Role of the kidneys in the metabolism of furosemide: its inhibition by probenecid. J Am Soc Nephrol 7, 345–349.

Podvin, S., Yaksh, T., Hook, V., 2016. The Emerging Role of Spinal Dynorphin in Chronic Pain: A Therapeutic Perspective. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 56, 511–533.

Poggioli, R., Vergoni, A.V., Bertolini, A., 1985. Influence of hydrochlorothiazide on the pain threshold and on the antinociceptive activity of morphine, in rats. Experientia 41, 265–266.

Powell, K.J., Ma, W., Sutak, M., Doods, H., Quirion, R., Jhamandas, K., 2000. Blockade and reversal of spinal morphine tolerance by peptide and non-peptide calcitonin gene-related peptide receptor antagonists. Br. J. Pharmacol. 131, 875–884.

Pöyhiä, R., Seppala, T., Olkkola, K.T., Kalso, E., 1992. The pharmacokinetics and metabolism of oxycodone after intramuscular and oral administration to healthy subjects. Br J Clin Pharmacol 33, 617–621.
Prandota, J., Witkowska, M., 1976. Pharmacokinetics and metabolism of furosemide in man. Eur J Drug Metab Pharmacokinet 1, 177–181.

Projean, D., Morin, P.-E., Tu, T.M., Ducharme, J., 2003. Identification of CYP3A4 and CYP2C8 as the major cytochrome P450 s responsible for morphine N-demethylation in human liver microsomes. Xenobiotica 33, 841–854.

Pfizer, n.d.a. LYRICA[®] (pregabalin) Clinical Pharmacology [WWW Document]. https://www.pfizermedicalinformation.com/en-us/lyrica/clinical-pharmacology. Last accessed 5.29.17.

Pfizer, n.d._b. MATERIAL SAFETY DATA SHEET. [WWW Document]. http://www.pfizer.com/sites/default/files/products/material_safety_data/LYRICA(pregabalin)capsules 30-jan-2017.pdf. Last accessed 7.19.2017.

Qavi, A.H., Kamal, R., Schrier, R.W., 2015. Clinical Use of Diuretics in Heart Failure, Cirrhosis, and Nephrotic Syndrome. Int J Nephrol 2015, 975934.

Raghavendra, V., Rutkowski, M.D., DeLeo, J.A., 2002. The role of spinal neuroimmune activation in morphine tolerance/hyperalgesia in neuropathic and sham-operated rats. J Neurosci 22, 9980–9989.

Ramsay, M.A., 2000. Acute postoperative pain management. Proc (Bayl Univ Med Cent) 13, 244–247.

Rane, A., Svensson, J.O., Sawe, J., 1983. Morphine metabolism in cancer patients on increasing oral doses--no evidence for autoinduction or dose-dependence. Br J Clin Pharmacol 16, 85–93.

Reddington, M., Priller, J., Treichel, J., Haas, C., Kreutzberg, G.W., 1995. Astrocytes and microglia as potential targets for calcitonin gene related peptide in the central nervous system. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 73, 1047–1049.

Reich, E.-P., Cui, L., Yang, L., Pugliese-Sivo, C., Golovko, A., Petro, M., Vassileva, G., Chu,
I., Nomeir, A.A., Zhang, L.-K., Liang, X., Kozlowski, J.A., Narula, S.K., Zavodny, P.J.,
Chou, C.-C., 2005. Blocking ion channel KCNN4 alleviates the symptoms of
experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice. Eur. J. Immunol. 35, 1027–1036.

Rhim, H., Miller, R.J., 1994. Opioid receptors modulate diverse types of calcium channels in the nucleus tractus solitarius of the rat. J Neurosci 14, 7608.

Roush, G.C., Sica, D.A., 2016. Diuretics for Hypertension: A Review and Update. Am J Hypertens 29, 1130–1137.

Sadiq, M.W., Bostrom, E., Keizer, R., Bjorkman, S., Hammarlund-Udenaes, M., 2013. Oxymorphone active uptake at the blood-brain barrier and population modeling of its pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic relationship. J Pharm Sci 102, 3320–3331.

Salter, M.W., Beggs, S., 2014. Sublime Microglia: Expanding Roles for the Guardians of the CNS. Cell 158, 15–24.

Samer, C.F., Daali, Y., Wagner, M., Hopfgartner, G., Eap, C.B., Rebsamen, M.C., Rossier, M.F., Hochstrasser, D., Dayer, P., Desmeules, J.A., 2010. The effects of CYP2D6 and CYP3A activities on the pharmacokinetics of immediate release oxycodone. Br. J.

Pharmacol. 160, 907–918.

- Schifano, F., 2014. Misuse and abuse of pregabalin and gabapentin: cause for concern? CNS Drugs 28, 491–496.
- Schinkel, A.H., Wagenaar, E., van Deemter, L., Mol, C.A., Borst, P., 1995. Absence of the mdr1a P-Glycoprotein in mice affects tissue distribution and pharmacokinetics of dexamethasone, digoxin, and cyclosporin A. J Clin Invest 96, 1698–1705.
- Seward, E., Hammond, C., Henderson, G., 1991. Mu-opioid-receptor-mediated inhibition of the N-type calcium-channel current. Proc Biol Sci 244, 129–135.
- Shimoyama, M., Shimoyama, N., Inturrisi, C.E., Elliott, K.J., 1997. Gabapentin enhances the antinociceptive effects of spinal morphine in the rat tail-flick test. Pain 72, 375–382.
- Sica, D.A., 2005. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of mineralocorticoid blocking agents and their effects on potassium homeostasis. Heart Fail Rev 10, 23– 29.
- Silbermann, M., 2011. Current trends in opioid consumption globally and in Middle Eastern countries. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 33 Suppl 1, S1–5.
- Simons, L.E., Moulton, E.A., Linnman, C., Carpino, E., Becerra, L., Borsook, D., 2012. The human amygdala and pain: evidence from neuroimaging, in: Hum Brain Mapp, 35, 527–538.
- Smith, H.S., Laufer, A., 2014. Opioid induced nausea and vomiting. European Journal of Pharmacology 722, 67–78.
- Sneddon, L.U., 2004. Evolution of nociception in vertebrates: comparative analysis of lower vertebrates. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 46, 123–130.
- Sobanski, P., Krajnik, M., Shaqura, M., Bloch-Boguslawska, E., Schafer, M., Mousa, S.A., 2014. The presence of mu-, delta-, and kappa-opioid receptors in human heart tissue. Heart Vessels 29, 855–863.
- Sorge, R.E., Mapplebeck, J.C.S., Rosen, S., Beggs, S., Taves, S., Alexander, J.K., Martin, L.J., Austin, J.-S., Sotocinal, S.G., Chen, D., Yang, M., Shi, X.Q., Huang, H., Pillon, N.J., Bilan, P.J., Tu, Y., Klip, A., Ji, R.-R., Zhang, J., Salter, M.W., Mogil, J.S., 2015. Different immune cells mediate mechanical pain hypersensitivity in male and female mice. Nat Neurosci 18, 1081–1083.
- Sorge, R.E., Martin, L.J., Isbester, K.A., Sotocinal, S.G., Rosen, S., Tuttle, A.H., Wieskopf, J.S., Acland, E.L., Dokova, A., Kadoura, B., Leger, P., Mapplebeck, J.C.S., McPhail, M., Delaney, A., Wigerblad, G., Schumann, A.P., Quinn, T., Frasnelli, J., Svensson, C.I., Sternberg, W.F., Mogil, J.S., 2014. Olfactory exposure to males, including men, causes stress and related analgesia in rodents. Nat Meth 11, 629–632.
- Spiller, H.A., Bratcher, R., Griffith, J.R.K., 2008. Pregabalin overdose with benign outcome. Clin Toxicol 46, 917–917.
- Struthers, A., Krum, H., Williams, G.H., 2008. A comparison of the aldosterone-blocking agents eplerenone and spironolactone. Clin Cardiol 31, 153–158.
- Sun, Y.-E., Peng, L., Sun, X., Bo, J., Yang, D., Zheng, Y., Liu, C., Zhu, B., Ma, Z., Gu, X.,

2012. Intrathecal injection of spironolactone attenuates radicular pain by inhibition of spinal microglia activation in a rat model. PLoS One 7, e39897.

- Tai, Y.-H., Wang, Y.-H., Tsai, R.-Y., Wang, J.-J., Tao, P.-L., Liu, T.-M., Wang, Y.C., Wong, C.-S., 2007. Amitriptyline preserves morphine's antinociceptive effect by regulating the glutamate transporter GLAST and GLT-1 trafficking and excitatory amino acids concentration in morphine-tolerant rats. Pain 129, 343–354.
- Tanaka, J., Fujita, H., Matsuda, S., Toku, K., Sakanaka, M., Maeda, N., 1997. Glucocorticoid- and mineralocorticoid receptors in microglial cells: the two receptors mediate differential effects of corticosteroids. Glia 20, 23–37.
- Taylor, C.P., Angelotti, T., Fauman, E., 2007. Pharmacology and mechanism of action of pregabalin: The calcium channel α2–δ (alpha2–delta) subunit as a target for antiepileptic drug discovery. Epilepsy Res 73, 137–150.

Tham, C.-S., Lin, F.-F., Rao, T.S., Yu, N., Webb, M., 2003. Microglial activation state and lysophospholipid acid receptor expression. Int J Dev Neurosci 21, 431–443.

Tiippana, E.M., Hamunen, K., Kontinen, V.K., Kalso, E., 2007. Do Surgical Patients Benefit from Perioperative Gabapentin/Pregabalin? A Systematic Review of Efficacy and Safety. Anesth Analg 104, 1545-1556.

Todd, A.J., 2010. Neuronal circuitry for pain processing in the dorsal horn. Nat Rev Neurosci 11, 823–836.

- Tompkins, D.A., Campbell, C.M., 2011. Opioid-induced hyperalgesia: clinically relevant or extraneous research phenomenon? Curr Pain Headache Rep 15, 129–136.
- Turchan-Cholewo, J., Dimayuga, F.O., Ding, Q., Keller, J.N., Hauser, K.F., Knapp, P.E., Bruce-Keller, A.J., 2008. Cell-specific actions of HIV-Tat and morphine on opioid receptor expression in glia. J Neurosci Res 86, 2100–2110.
- Vadivelu, N., Mitra, S., Hines, R.L., 2011. Peripheral opioid receptor agonists for analgesia: a comprehensive review. J Opioid Manag 7, 55–68.
- van Den Burg, E.H., van Den Burg, E.H., Metz, J.R., Metz, J.R., Arends, R.J., Arends, R.J., Devreese, B., Vandenberghe, I., Van Beeumen, J., Wendelaar Bonga, S.E., Flik, G., 2001. Identification of beta-endorphins in the pituitary gland and blood plasma of the common carp (Cyprinus carpio). J Endocrinol 169, 271–280.
- Vanderah, T.W., Gardell, L.R., Burgess, S.E., Ibrahim, M., Dogrul, A., Zhong, C.M., Zhang, E.T., Malan, T.P.J., Ossipov, M.H., Lai, J., Porreca, F., 2000. Dynorphin promotes abnormal pain and spinal opioid antinociceptive tolerance. J Neurosci 20, 7074–7079.
- Vella-Brincat, J., Macleod, A.D., 2007. Adverse effects of opioids on the central nervous systems of palliative care patients. J Pain Palliat Care Pharmacother 21, 15–25.
- Verge, G.M., Milligan, E.D., Maier, S.F., Watkins, L.R., Naeve, G.S., Foster, A.C., 2004. Fractalkine (CX3CL1) and fractalkine receptor (CX3CR1) distribution in spinal cord and dorsal root ganglia under basal and neuropathic pain conditions. Eur J Neurosci 20, 1150–1160.

Verma, V., Singh, N., Singh Jaggi, A., 2014. Pregabalin in Neuropathic Pain: Evidences

and Possible Mechanisms. Curr Neuropharmacol 12, 44–56.

- Vissers, K., De Jongh, R., Hoffmann, V., Heylen, R., Crul, B., Meert, T., 2003. Internal and external factors affecting the development of neuropathic pain in rodents. Is it all about pain? Pain Pract 3, 326–342.
- Wandel, C., Kim, R., Wood, M., Wood, A., 2002. Interaction of morphine, fentanyl, sufentanil, alfentanil, and loperamide with the efflux drug transporter P-glycoprotein. Anesthesiology 96, 913–920.
- Wang, J., Li, Z.-H., Feng, B., Zhang, T., Zhang, H., Li, H., Chen, T., Cui, J., Zang, W.-D., Li, Y.-Q., 2015. Corticotrigeminal Projections from the Insular Cortex to the Trigeminal Caudal Subnucleus Regulate Orofacial Pain after Nerve Injury via Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase Activation in Insular Cortex Neurons. Front Cell Neurosci 9, 493.
- Wang, S., Lim, G., Zeng, Q., Sung, B., Ai, Y., Guo, G., Yang, L., Mao, J., 2004. Expression of central glucocorticoid receptors after peripheral nerve injury contributes to neuropathic pain behaviors in rats. J Neurosci 24, 8595–8605.
- Wang, Z., Ma, W., Chabot, J.-G., Quirion, R., 2010a. Calcitonin gene-related peptide as a regulator of neuronal CaMKII–CREB, microglial p38–NFκB and astroglial ERK– Stat1/3 cascades mediating the development of tolerance to morphine-induced analgesia. Pain 151, 194–205.
- Wang, Z., Ma, W., Chabot, J.-G., Quirion, R., 2010b. Morphological evidence for the involvement of microglial p38 activation in CGRP-associated development of morphine antinociceptive tolerance. Peptides 31, 2179–2184.
- Wang, Z., Ma, W., Chabot, J.-G., Quirion, R., 2009. Cell-type specific activation of p38 and ERK mediates calcitonin gene-related peptide involvement in tolerance to morphine-induced analgesia. FASEB J 23, 2576–2586.
- Watkins, L.R., Hutchinson, M.R., Johnston, I.N., Maier, S.F., 2005. Glia: novel counterregulators of opioid analgesia. Trends Neurosci 28, 661–669.
- Watkins, L.R., Hutchinson, M.R., Rice, K.C., Maier, S.F., 2009. The "toll" of opioidinduced glial activation: improving the clinical efficacy of opioids by targeting glia. Trends Pharmacol Sci 30, 581–591.
- Welling, P.G., 1986. Pharmacokinetics of the thiazide diuretics. Biopharm Drug Dispos 7, 501–535.
- Welters, I.D., 2003. Is immunomodulation by opioid drugs of clinical relevance? Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 16, 509–513.
- Weng, H.-R., Aravindan, N., Cata, J.P., Chen, J.-H., Shaw, A.D.S., Dougherty, P.M., 2005. Spinal glial glutamate transporters downregulate in rats with taxol-induced hyperalgesia. Neurosci Lett 386, 18–22.
- Westlund, K.N., Willis, W.D., 2015. Chapter 25 Pain System, in:. The Rat Nervous System, 4th Edition. Academic Press, pp. 703–731.
- White, J.M., Irvine, R.J., 1999. Mechanisms of fatal opioid overdose. Addiction 94, 961–972.

- Whitwam, J.G., 1976. Classification of peripheral nerve fibres. An historical perspective. Anaesthesia 31, 494–503.
- Williams, J.T., Ingram, S.L., Henderson, G., Chavkin, C., Zastrow, von, M., Schulz, S., Koch, T., Evans, C.J., Christie, M.J., 2012. Regulation of μ -opioid Receptors: Desensitization, Phosphorylation, Internalization, and Tolerance. Pharmacol Rev 65, 223–254.
- Woolf, C.J., Costigan, M., 1999. Transcriptional and posttranslational plasticity and the generation of inflammatory pain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96, 7723–7730.
- Woolf, C.J., Ma, Q., 2007. Nociceptors—Noxious Stimulus Detectors. Neuron 55, 353–364.
- Wulff, H., Castle, N.A., 2010. Therapeutic potential of KCa3.1 blockers: an overview of recent advances, and promising trends. Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol 3, 385–396.
- Xie, R., Bouw, M.R., Hammarlund-Udenaes, M., 2000. Modelling of the blood-brain barrier transport of morphine-3-glucuronide studied using microdialysis in the rat: involvement of probenecid-sensitive transport. Br. J. Pharmacol. 131, 1784–1792.
- Xie, R., Hammarlund-Udenaes, M., de Boer, A.G., de Lange, E.C., 1999. The role of Pglycoprotein in blood-brain barrier transport of morphine: transcortical microdialysis studies in mdr1a (-/-) and mdr1a (+/+) mice. Br J Pharmacol. 128, 563–568.
- Xing, J., Titus, A.R., Humphrey, M.B., 2015. The TREM2-DAP12 signaling pathway in Nasu–Hakola disease: a molecular genetics perspective. Res Rep Biochem 5, 89–100.
- Shimizu, N., Kishioka, S., Maeda, T., Fukazawa, Y., Yamamoto, C., Ozaki, M., Yamamoto, H., 2004. Role of pharmacokinetic effects in the potentiation of morphine analgesia by L-type calcium channel blockers in mice. J Pharmacol Sci 94, 240–245.
- Yan, X., Weng, H.R., 2013. Endogenous Interleukin-1 in Neuropathic Rats Enhances Glutamate Release from the Primary Afferents in the Spinal Dorsal Horn through Coupling with Presynaptic N-Methyl-D-aspartic Acid Receptors. J Biol Chem 288, 30544–30557.
- Ye, L., Xie, W., Strong, J.A., Zhang, J.-M., 2014. Blocking the mineralocorticoid receptor improves effectiveness of steroid treatment for low back pain in rats. Anesthesiology 121, 632–643.
- Yeung, E., Wong, F.S., 2002. The management of cirrhotic ascites. MedGenMed 4, 8.
- Yu, Y., Zhang, L., Yin, X., Sun, H., Uhl, G.R., Wang, J.B., 1997. Mu opioid receptor phosphorylation, desensitization, and ligand efficacy. J Biol Chem 272, 28869– 28874.
- Yücel, A., Özturk, E., Aydoğan, M.S., Durmuş, M., Çolak, C., Ersoy, M.Ö., 2011. Effects of 2 Different Doses of Pregabalin on Morphine Consumption and Pain After Abdominal Hysterectomy: A Randomized, Double-Blind Clinical Trial. Curr Ther Res Clin Exp 72, 173–183.
- Zaccara, G., Gangemi, P., Perucca, P., Specchio, L., 2011. The adverse event profile of

pregabalin: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Epilepsia 52, 826–836.

- Zaveri, N., Jiang, F., Olsen, C., Polgar, W., Toll, L., 2005. Small-molecule agonists and antagonists of the opioid receptor-like receptor (ORL1, NOP): Ligand-based analysis of structural factors influencing intrinsic activity at NOP. AAPS J 7, E345– E352.
- Zhang, H., Nei, H., Dougherty, P.M., 2010. A p38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase-Dependent Mechanism of Disinhibition in Spinal Synaptic Transmission Induced by Tumor Necrosis Factor. J Neurosci 30, 12844–12855.
- Zhang, X.-Q., Cui, Y., Cui, Y., Chen, Y., Na, X.-D., Chen, F.-Y., Wei, X.-H., Li, Y.-Y., Liu, X.-G., Xin, W.-J., 2012. Activation of p38 signaling in the microglia in the nucleus accumbens contributes to the acquisition and maintenance of morphine-induced conditioned place preference. Brain Behav Immun 26, 318–325.
- Zhao, C.Y., Greenstein, J.L., Winslow, R.L., 2017. Mechanisms of the cyclic nucleotide cross-talk signaling network in cardiac L-type calcium channel regulation. J Mol Cell Cardiol 106, 29–44.
- Zhou, D., Chen, M.L., Zhang, Y.Q., Zhao, Z.Q., 2010. Involvement of Spinal Microglial P2X7 Receptor in Generation of Tolerance to Morphine Analgesia in Rats. J Neurosci 30, 8042–8047.
- Zhou, H.-Y., Chen, S.-R., Chen, H., Pan, H.-L., 2010. Opioid-Induced Long-Term Potentiation in the Spinal Cord Is a Presynaptic Event. J Neurosci 30, 4460–4466.
- Zhu, J., Qu, C., Lu, X., Zhang, S., 2014. Activation of microglia by histamine and substance P. Cell Physiol Biochem 34, 768–780.
- Zylbergold, P., Ramakrishnan, N., Hébert, T.E., 2010. The role of G proteins in assembly and function of Kir3 inwardly rectifying potassium channels. Channels (Austin) 4, 411–421.